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Patrons, Governors, Members and Key Executive Staff 

Chief Patron 
Her Majesty The Queen 

Patrons 
The Rt Hon Boris Johnson MP 
(appointed 1 June 2020) 
The Rt Hon Theresa May MP 
The Rt Hon David Cameron 
The Rt Hon Ed Miliband MP 
The Rt Hon Iain Duncan Smith MP 
The Rt Hon Tony Blair 

Life President 
The Rt Hon the Lord Sterling of Plaistow 
GCVO CBE (appointed 1 June 2020) 

Life Vice-President 
Brian Carte TD 
(appointed 2 December 2019) 

Governors 
Chairman and Co-Founder: 
The Rt Hon the Lord Sterling of Plaistow 
GCVO CBE (retired 1 June 2020) 
Chairman: 
Charles Manby MBE (appointed  
1 June 2020) (appointed Governor  
26 September 2019) 
Vice-Chairman: 
Sir Gerald Acher CBE LVO FCA  
(retired December 2019) 
Hon Treasurer: 
David Hunter FCA 

Dr Stephen Duckworth OBE 
Barry Le Grys MBE 
(resigned 21 July 2019) 
Ed Humpherson 
Dr Juliana Onwumere 
(appointed 4 July 2019) 
Professor Mala Rao OBE 
(appointed 4 July 2019) 
Lord Kevin Shinkwin 
Professor Adrian V Stokes OBE 
(deceased 8 April 2020) 
Cheryl Ward 
Professor William Webb 

Members 
Sir Gerald Acher CBE LVO FCA 
Richard Bennison 
Don Brereton CB 
Morigue Cornwell MBE 
Alan Dickinson 
Christopher E Fay CBE 
Tim Gooch 
The Rt Hon the Lord Hague of Richmond 
Raymond King 
Joanna Lewis 
Edward Lester 
The Baroness Masham of Ilton DL 
The Hon Sara Morrison 
Noel Muddiman CBE 
Paul Spencer 
The Rt Hon the Lord Sterling of Plaistow 
GCVO CBE 

Key Executive Staff 
Chief Executive Officer: 
Barry Le Grys MBE  
(appointed 25 September 2019) 
Director: 
Paul Atkinson CBE (retired 11 July 2019) 
Interim Director of Finance: 
Rupen Shah (retired 30 November 2019) 
Director of Finance: 
Charles Nall (appointed  
1 November 2019) 
Director of Charitable Operations: 
Lisa Jones 
Director of Performance  
and Engagement: 
Rachael Badger (appointed 
4 November 2019) 
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‘ Having a grant towards  
my Motability Scheme 
vehicle means I can 
get to places I couldn’t 
easily get to before. 
It helps me get to 
and from school and 
hospital with ease. The  
car has a lot of space 
so it feels comfortable.’
 Samuel 
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Introduction 
Motability was co-founded 43 years ago by the late Lord Goodman and 
Lord Sterling, with all-party political support, in order to help disabled 
people and their families with their personal mobility. During this time, 
the Charity has grown from strength to strength. 

Back in 1977, there were only 25,000 
Government-issued vehicles for 
disabled people; mostly the distinctive 
single-passenger blue trikes. Through 
the creation and direction of the 
Motability Scheme, Motability Finance 
– which was increasingly delivering 
the Scheme – was able to steadily 
enhance the value and choice of cars 
for disabled people and their families. 
As time went on, the Scheme’s 
buying power was such that the value 
for money for disabled customers 
improved consistently. 

In 2008, Motability Finance changed 
its name to Motability Operations 
Limited, to more clearly reflect its role 
and became a subsidiary of Motability 
Operations Group plc. formed as the 
culmination of a decision, planned 
several years earlier, to raise long-term 
funding on the capital markets. This 
was taken because of the possible 
risks, given the very sizeable amounts 
raised, of relying on annual bank 
borrowing, and to provide a modern 
and transparent governance and 
reporting arrangement. The decision 
was, with hindsight, timely. Over the 
years, money has been reinvested, 
in consultation with the Charity, by 
Motability Operations, back into the 

Scheme for the benefit of customers, 
through customer support and the 
enhancement of many areas of 
customer service. 

Motability, 
the Charity 

Sets the strategic 
direction and 
policies of the 

Scheme 

Motability 
Scheme 

Motability 
Operations 

Delivers the 
day-to-day 
running of 

the Scheme 

The Scheme has proven resilient in  
the context of successive economic 
cycles and Government welfare 
reforms, and has built long-lasting 
and valued relations with stakeholders 
across both the private and public 
sectors. 

There are currently 630,000 people 
benefiting from the Scheme, whether 
leasing a car, Wheelchair Accessible 
Vehicle (WAV), powered wheelchair 
or scooter. Under Motability’s 
stewardship, the Scheme, reinforced 
by our charitable programmes that 
totalled £71 million in grants this past 
year, has provided more than five 
million vehicles and helped millions  
of disabled people and their families  
to enjoy ‘the road to freedom’. 
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Public and Charitable Benefit 
This Annual Report reviews the work of Motability over the past year and sets out the aims for 2020/21. 

In reviewing the performance and 
future aims, Governors have due 
regard for the guidance published 
by the Charity Commission on 
public benefit and have complied 
with Section 17 of the Charities Act 
2011 in this respect. Enhancing the 
mobility of disabled people, to the 
extent demonstrated in this Report, is 
Motability’s contribution to the nation. 

08 www.motability.org.uk Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 
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Meet 28-year-old Hannah� 
Hannah is a Motability Scheme customer and heard about available grants through a friend 

Hannah was fit and well until  
she injured her ankle while playing 
netball.�“Before I joined the  
Scheme I could only travel by  
blue light ambulance to and 
from hospitals, as travelling  
was extremely uncomfortable  
and painful. 

“I had internal damage and 
developed Complex Regional Pain 
Syndrome and then other secondary 
complications. My mobility 
deteriorated and I was admitted  

to hospital. I spent most of the next 
four years in hospital and 18 months 
in a neurological unit. I have been 
home more permanently since I was 
21, with only occasional admissions 
to hospital. I am a powerchair user. 
I try to live a fulfilling life, to the best 
of my ability.” 

Hannah currently leases a 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle (WAV) 
on the Motability Scheme and 
received a grant for the Advance 
Payment.� 

“I am very tall and have a large 
specialist powerchair, so I can’t fit 
into many WAVs. I have a lot of pain, 
and bumps and vibrations make it 
worse, but my WAV has excellent 
suspension which makes travelling 
more comfortable and manageable.� 

“In my vehicle two people can sit 
next to me – one on either side to 
support me. I am not in the boot 
or over the back wheels. I am in the 
family hub, which is really important 
to me.”� 
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Chairman’s Statement 
The past 43 years of the Motability Scheme, since its modest but ambitious birth, have 
brought many challenges, and the project has proven resilient. The founding principles 
have continued to be pursued, and the Scheme and the Charity have developed 
enormously. The COVID-19 pandemic is a unique challenge. Motability is more 
determined than ever that the benefits of the Motability project be available to future 
generations of people with disability, giving them the independence of mobility, and 
the principle of financial sustainability for the long term is paramount in our minds. 

Lord Sterling GCVO CBE 
Chairman and co-founder 
of Motability 
Lord Sterling retired as Chairman 
on 1 June 2020 and was appointed 
Life President 

In the last Annual Report and 
Accounts I wrote that I believed we 
were entering into another chapter of 
Motability’s history, likely to be one of 
the most exciting and important. None 
of us then knew of COVID-19. Over 
the past few months we have since 
spent time preparing for the inevitable 
moment of the return to normality. 
We organised ourselves to be first off 
the starting blocks because we know 
our beneficiaries – disabled people and 
their families – depend on Motability, 
and our assistance in meeting their 
needs is paramount.  

In 2019, Motability Operations made 
donations totalling £852 million to 
the newly established Motability 
Foundation. These donations were 
possible due to the then-extraordinary 
buoyant second-hand market, in which 
cars, for several years, had been selling 
consistently at values significantly 
higher than expected. Over and above 

this sum included the release of capital 
reserves of £370 million that was 
announced in June 2019. In the years 
to come, Motability Operations could 
face volatile times, as we now see, 
making future donations uncertain.  

The donation from the Motability Tenth 
Anniversary Trust (MTAT) of its net 
assets to the Motability Foundation 
took place earlier this year, and the 
Foundation will continue the Trust’s 
charitable works. I thank the past 
Trustees of MTAT for their wise counsel. 

The Motability Foundation will serve 
as an excellent long-term insurance 
policy, underpinning our charitable 
work for current and future  
generations to come.    

Last year, we approached the 
Department for Work and Pensions 
to identify areas in which they are 
involved with disabled people, where 
our support could prove helpful. In 
July 2019, the Minister for Disabled 
People, Justin Tomlinson MP spoke in 
the House of Commons about two 
new areas in which we would extend 
our charitable contributions; Stopped 
Allowance Support and Access to Work 

Grants (see pages 37 and 39). We  
set these new programmes in motion 
within the year and, alongside our 
Transitional Support Package (see more 
below), and our support to families 
with severely disabled children under 
the age of three who have significant 
mobility needs but are ineligible for 
support through the Disability Living 
Allowance, we are looking at other 
ways we can further enhance the  
lives of disabled people.  

The COVID-19 pandemic has created 
an immense challenge for both the 
Charity and for the Scheme.  

The very special management 
planning at Motability Operations was 
invaluable to enable the switching of 
the whole delivery role of the Scheme 
to operate from home with the 
appropriate kit, thereby giving them 
the capability of the crucial call centre 
role and other key areas to continue 
to give the highest standard of 
service for the needs of the Motability 
Scheme’s disabled customers. Mike 
Betts, who stood down as CEO of 
Motability Operations on 31 March 
2020 after 18 years’ service, has 
coordinated Motability Operations’ 
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In 1989, Motability launched 
a campaign to promote the use 
of lead-free petrol at an event 

held at Buckingham Palace. 

Pictured: Chief Patron, Her Majesty 
The Queen with Sir Gerald Acher 

CBE LVO and the late Professor 
Adrian Stokes OBE 

COVID-19 response, working together 
with Matthew Hamilton-James, 
current acting CEO and his other 
senior colleagues, Ian Goswell, Ashley 
Sylvester and Jo Pentland. 

Brigadier Barry Le Grys MBE, CEO of 
Motability, the Charity, carried out a 
similar operation with all the teams 
working at the Harlow office. However, 
the Charitable Grants team had to 
pause grant-making for a number of 
weeks at the start of lockdown. During 
this period we have learned a great deal 
about the extraordinary acceleration 
of modern technology, of which we 
must make full use to ensure both the 
Scheme and Charity can fulfil their roles 
of enhancing the lives and mobility of 
disabled people and their families. 

Grant awards totalled £71 million by 
year end, despite the late impact of 
COVID-19, up sharply from £53 million 
in 2018/19 as Motability expanded 
its grant programmes and made its 
first special grants to other charities 
to meet the transport needs of young 
children with disabilities and their 
families. Since 2017/18 our grant 
spending has nearly trebled. We have 
strongly increased the number of 

skilled case managers to achieve this. 

The Charity’s key role has always been 
its Scheme oversight responsibility and 
this will be strengthened, particularly 
taking into account the challenging 
times ahead. 

We are building a designated research 
team to examine worldwide what are 
the best ways of enhancing the lives  
of disabled people and their families  
to the most valuable effect. 

Our Report of last year highlighted a 
plan setting out the intended course of 
Motability over five years. Motability’s 
grant-making plans are detailed for 

the near term. They will be funded by 
drawing from the unrestricted funds 
held by Motability as a result of the 
£400 million donation from Motability 
Operations in 2018. However, within 
these five years the transition to 
Personal Independence Payments 
(PIP) will be completed. It is estimated 
£210 million of Transitional Support 
Payments and Stopped Allowance 
Support, providing support and advice 
to those who are no longer eligible to 
be Scheme customers upon transition, 
will have been funded by Motability to 
2022 and the change in assessment 
criteria for PIP has significantly altered 
the profile of customers, and their 
individual needs are more challenging. 

12 www.motability.org.uk Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 
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‘ In my ongoing role as Life President 
I intend, of course, to help Motability 
in every way possible’ 

We understand the Government 
intends to evaluate PIP through 
2021/22 and the findings will be of 
great interest to Motability. We intend 
to do our own review in the same year. 
However, first and foremost we have 
to account for the wider and deeper 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
global markets, the UK economy, and 
our own financial position. It is essential 
that we take a long-term view. 

In our oversight role of the Motability 
Scheme, I very much welcome Andrew 
Miller as the new Chief Executive Officer 
of Motability Operations. Andrew’s 
joining date will be determined in due 
course. Matthew Hamilton-James (the 
current Finance Director) is Acting Chief 
Executive Officer until Andrew Miller 
joins the company. Andrew brings with 
him the experience to maintain the 
crucial high standards of service that 
some 630,000 disabled people and 
their families rely upon – one of the 
key principles on which the Scheme 
was founded. He will also bring his 
extensive working knowledge of digital 
technology, which will be crucial in 
the coming years. 

There are many people I wish to thank, 
starting with my fellow Governors, both 
past and present, whose dedication 
and experience over the decades have 
been invaluable. They have brought 
a wealth of individual knowledge and 
experience in areas such as disability, 
international commerce, finance and 
the charity sector. Sadly, one of our 
founding Governors, Professor Adrian 
Stokes OBE, passed away in April of this 
year. When I started Motability, I set up 
a sub-Committee to be responsible for 
grant-making, including the Chairman, 
and Adrian. They are all distinguished 
members of the disabled community. 
Adrian served for more than 40 years 
on the Board, on which he gave 
splendid advice. On my own front, 
I always found him to have a shrewd 
understanding of human nature, 
and we became friends. 

The unique partnership which makes 
up the Motability Scheme is sustained 
by many individuals who show such 
wonderful passion in their efforts, such 
as those working in motor dealerships 
up and down the country, patrolmen 
providing roadside assistance to those 
who need it, and, of course, all those 
in the Scheme’s motor manufacturers, 

insurers, conversion and adaptation 
companies, and the staff of Motability 
and Motability Operations. My fellow 
Governors, executives and I would like 
to express our great gratitude to all.  
Empathy is what all involved possess 
and is a key factor as to why everyone 
has been prepared to go the extra mile. 

I am delighted to hand over the 
chairmanship of Motability to Charles 
Manby MBE. His global experience 
in the business world and his 
considerable involvement in charitable 
causes will unquestionably add to the 
significant experience of Motability’s 
Board of Governors. 

Apart from my business career, I have 
been involved in non-profit making 
organisations since my early 20s.  
I have to say that, for me, creating 
Motability in order to enhance the lives 
of disabled people and their families 
has unquestionably been the most 
important endeavour of my life.  

In my ongoing role as Life President  
I intend, of course, to help Motability  
in every way possible taking account  
of the challenges ahead. 

Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 www.motability.org.uk  13 



‘ I now have worry-free 
motoring as all maintenance, 
insurance, and car tax were 
no longer down to me to sort 
out. All I have to do is to put 
fuel into the car – great!’

 Jason 
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Chairman’s Statement 

Charles Manby MBE 
Chairman of Motability 
(appointed Chairman  
on 1 June 2020) 

It is an enormous privilege to be 
asked to Chair the Motability Board of 
Governors. The scale and complexity 
of what we do is somewhat daunting 
but, with the full support of the Board 
and their respective experiences 
and skill sets, I am confident we will 
continue and build on the success  
of the past four decades. 

I am indebted to Lord Sterling for 
his welcome to the Board and his 
mentorship since. Motability is a 
unique project with major national 
impact. It has grown from strength to 
strength over the past 43 years under 
the hugely resourceful leadership 
of Lord Sterling, and the nation has 
benefited immensely, in so many 
ways. We are all extremely grateful. 

This year has presented its own 
unprecedented challenges. However, 
strong management by the Boards 
of both Motability and Motability 
Operations meant we entered the 
crisis in resilient shape and have 

protected the founding principles, 
including long-term sustainability. 
The full effects of the crisis are yet to 
unfold, and the Board of Governors 
will be engaged continuously to 
ensure all necessary adjustments 
to our plans are made so that the 
Motability project remains sustainable 
and able to assist current and future 
generations of beneficiaries.  

We entered the pandemic knowing 
that concerns about the environment 
are of increasing importance, 
including a transport infrastructure 
that promotes the environment. The 
means of transport will change as 
technology and behavioural responses 

evolve; these changes will impact 
the needs of, and solutions available 
to, all disabled people who are our 
beneficiaries. The Motability Board will 
be alert to and seek to influence these; 
we are increasing our investment 
in research and innovation in the 
development of our grant-making 
priorities and capabilities. 

I very much look forward to working 
with Sir Stephen O’Brien KBE, 
Chairman of Motability Operations, 
and his Board and senior executives, 
alongside our own Motability Board 
and executives. We all share a strong 
sense of purpose; making a difference 
to mobility for disabled people. 

‘ It is an enormous 
privilege to be asked 
to chair the Motability 
Board of Governors’ 

Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 www.motability.org.uk  15 
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‘ My car has 
given me new 
independence 
and freedom to 
move easier.’

 Allison 
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Chief Executive 
Officer’s Statement 

Barry Le Grys MBE 

Government direction on COVID-19 
lockdown meant that we closed the 
Harlow office on 23 March after an 
orderly withdrawal. Around half of our 
staff were able to work from home and 
provide business continuity, including 
the production of this Report. I am very 
pleased that we were able to achieve 
our grant spend target for the financial 
year. 

Access to Mobility category grants 
were able to be administered as well 
but Scheme-related grants had to 
cease as we could not complete the 
full end-to-end process of grant-
making without access to beneficiaries 
for proper assessment, and dealerships 
were closed to transactions and 
vehicle handovers. Grants that we were 
unable to make due to these closures 
are viewed as activity deferred and  
not as activity lost, and we aim to 
reach the potential beneficiaries as 
soon as we are able.  

I would like to pay tribute to all our 
staff who adjusted quickly to the 
different working conditions and who 
maintained a strong sense of purpose 
throughout this time. Our people and 

business continuity planning stood 
us in good stead. This period taught 
us a lot about our working practices 
and we will be assessing what we 
have learned for the longer term. 
Whilst the grant case managers could 
not progress all our grant-making 
programmes, we were able to fulfil our 
oversight of the Motability Scheme in a 
uniquely challenging time, manage the 
multitude of communications through 
a variety of channels regarding the 
Charity and the Scheme, build our 
innovation agenda, and develop our 
people, skills and ways of working.  

Rachael Badger arrived as Director 
of Performance and Engagement in 
November 2019, and her growing 
team has produced new proposals 
on the building blocks which can be 
used to enhance oversight of the 
Scheme, as well as judge the impact 
and evaluation of all our charitable 
programmes. 

I was delighted that Motability 
was able to work with the National 
Emergencies Trust (NET) to second 
our grant case managers who, due 
to the enforced lockdown, had been 
unable to work from home. This was 
important both for their wellbeing and 

morale in this challenging situation.  
The NET was commissioned to act as 
a single point of contact for donations 
and applications for support in a period 
of national emergency. It launched its 
first ever emergency appeal to support 
those impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic. Each grant case manager 
was allocated a region or county within 
the UK, and tasks included sourcing 
information and links corresponding to 
the area, and researching the response 
from community groups, charities, 
businesses, mutual aid groups and 
individuals to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
and investigating where funding and 
support is needed. 

Our people also spoke with many of our 
beneficiaries during the office closure, 
to see how they were coping during 
lockdown. From our conversations 
with them we learned that their 
expectations were high and that they 
wished to see a resumption of normal 
business as quickly as possible. We were 
determined that our return focused 
on continuing to provide the very best 
level of service we can to our disabled 
beneficiaries and to maintain the 
spend on charitable grant-making  
that we achieved last year. 
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Meet Nazmin� 
“The grant I received for adaptations to my Scheme vehicle has been a godsend” 

“Before I found out about Motability, 
I used to have to travel by taxi, 
but this wasn’t ideal as they were 
frequently late. This experience  
gave me the incentive to pass my 
driving test. 

“The advisors at the driving 
assessment centre suggested  
what adaptations would be suitable 
for me and informed me about 
Motability and the range of help  
it could provide me with.” 

Nazmin received a grant from 
Motability for adaptations to be 
added to her new vehicle. She has 
a hoist to help move her powered 
wheelchair in and out of the vehicle, 
as well as a powered tailgate and 
hand controls. 

“Motability and the Motability 
Scheme have been an absolute 
godsend and continue to be so.  
It is incredibly hard to put into  
words just how much my adapted 

vehicle has helped over the years 
and continues to help. 

“It has enabled me to go to 
university and flourish within  
my studies. I can go out to visit 
friends and family, as well as 
to hospital appointments and 
interviews. I can get to work, 
contribute to and feel part of 
society, and live a fulfilling life.” 

18 www.motability.org.uk Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 
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Strategy 
In 2019, we undertook a high-level strategic  
review of our intent and economic model to 
develop a longer term strategy that will enable  
us to move toward delivering our Vision 



The Five 
Strategic 
Pillars 
OUR FOUNDING 
PRINCIPLES 
Our founding principles that 
underpin our Strategic Pillars  
are to provide: 
– Solutions that meet the 

needs of our beneficiaries 
– The highest standard of service 
– The best possible value  

for money 
– Financial sustainability  

for the long term 

MOTABILITY 
SCHEME 

Ensure the successful 
operation of the Motability 

Scheme in meeting the 
transportation needs of 

disabled people. 

GRANT-MAKING 

Use charitable funds to 
support beneficiaries with 
the financial cost of their 

transportation needs. 

Our Goals 

•   Ensure the Motability 
Scheme delivers value  
for money solutions and 
high levels of customer 
service. 

•   Strengthen our oversight of  
the Motability Scheme. 

•   Extend and enhance our 
grant support to customers 
of the Motability Scheme. 

•   Create new grant 
programmes to support 
more disabled people. 

•   Develop a new 
“Motability Special Grants  
Programme” to provide  
financial help to other  
charities or organisations  
with aligned objectives.  

20 www.motability.org.uk Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 



BUILD AWARENESS 

To ensure that disabled 
people are fully aware of 

the benefits available from 
Motability, the Charity, and 

the Motability Scheme. 

•   Create engaging ways to 
help people to continue 
to be aware, and to 
understand, both our 
charitable work and the 
Motability Scheme.  

•   Establish Motability’s  
identity as a leading, grant-
making disability charity. 

INNOVATION 

Constantly look for and 
develop new solutions 
to meet the evolving 

transportation needs of 
disabled people. 

•   Invest in innovation and 
development in support   
of our vision. 

•   Broaden our activities  
to examine other forms  
of transportation outside  
of the Motability Scheme. 

DISABILITY CHARITY 

Be a major charity that 
provides the highest level 
of service, underpinned  

by a strong infrastructure 
and empathetic culture. 

•   Be a charity that supports 
future growth, particularly 
through the establishment  
of The Motability 
Foundation. 

•   Develop our people, skills 
and ways of working to 
enable our growth. 
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Motability, the Charity 
Motability, the Charity sets the 
strategic policies and direction of 
the Motability Scheme, and oversees 
its performance to ensure that it 
continues to meet the needs of 
disabled people. Motability, the 
Charity is registered with the Charity 
Commission in England and Wales 
under the Charity Registration number: 
299745. Motability has also applied to 
the Office of Scottish Charity Regulator 
(OSCR) to register as a charity in 
Scotland. The day-to-day running 
of the Scheme is delivered by an 
independent commercial company, 
Motability Operations, under an 
exclusive contract with Motability. 

Motability Operations 
Motability Operations has to fund the 
cost of more than 630,000 vehicles on 
the Motability Scheme to a value of 
£7.5 billion as at 30 September 2019 
(as per Motability Operations’ audited 
accounts), and needs to borrow money 
in order to do so. Before any investor 
lends money to any company, they 
need to be assured it is a healthy 
business to have the confidence the 
loan and the interest will be repaid. 
Motability Operations must maintain 
sufficient capital for its activities, 

keeping the vehicle fleet on the road, 
to attain a strong credit rating to 
lower the cost of borrowing, and to 
ensure access to the capital markets, 
underpinning the Scheme’s value 
for money. It is also important to us 
that current Scheme customers are 
protected from economic downturns 
or market shocks unless there are 
exceptional circumstances. Therefore, 
Motability Operations aims for a modest 
return on its capital asset base each 
year. This return figure and the level of 
capital reserves are kept under review. 

The provision of reserves to protect 
current customers from volatile and 
potentially price-increasing market 
forces is important, as noted previously. 
However, in more buoyant markets, 
financial performance sometimes 
exceeds forecast returns. Motability 
Operations does not pay a dividend 
to its shareholders. Any profits are 
reinvested for the benefit of current 
and future Scheme customers through 
improved services (insurance terms 
for carers as an example); added to 
reserves if risk assessment deems 
this prudent to further protect current 
and future customers; or are donated 
to Motability to help address the 
transportation needs of all people  

with disabilities. Motability and Motability 
Operations consult on these matters. 

Motability 
Charitable Object 
As a charity, Motability must always 
act within its charitable object in the 
best interests of its beneficiaries, 
who are all disabled people in need 
of assistance with their personal 
transportation. Motability must 
account publicly for its actions, 
reporting on its charitable activity and 
the resulting public benefit. This is part 
of the Motability charitable proposition. 
A critical feature of the proposition is 
that any funds donated to Motability 
can be used to support charitable 
programmes for all disabled people, 
within the Charity’s objects, not just 
customers of the Scheme. Those 
who are eligible for the Scheme have 
total choice in whether they join the 
Scheme as a customer or not. If they 
so choose they accept the Motability 
proposition. The Motability proposition 
must be transparent to all Scheme 
customers and the wider public, 
particularly the charitable work of 
Motability beyond the Scheme, largely 
through its individual grant-making. 
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Income to 
Motability. 

The  
day-to-day 

operations of  
the Scheme 

are delivered 
by Motability 

Operations. 

Sets the strategic 
policies and 
direction of  

the Scheme. 

Motability 
Operations 

An independent commercial  
company  under contract to 

Motability to deliver the  
Motability Scheme. 

Motability Operations is owned by 
the four major banks who receive 

no dividends as shareholders.  
All profits are reinvested for the 
benefit of Scheme customers  

or they are donated  
to Motability. 

Motability, 
the Charity 

A charity whose purpose is   
to  enhance  the lives of disabled  

people with transportation solutions. 
Makes charitable grants   

to beneficiaries. 
Motability is a charity with the 

objective of facilitating the relief 
and assistance of disabled persons 

in connection with the provision  
of personal and other  

transportation. 

Motability 
Foundation 

The 
Motability 
Scheme 

Motability 
Economic Model 

Donations  
to Motability.



 

 

 

Motability

OUR VALUES 
All Motability employees are expected to reflect our Values in 
their everyday activities. Our Values are integral to our ethos 
and create a pleasant and productive work environment. 

We work together to enhance 
the lives of disabled people 
Whatever our role, we are all working to the same 
goal – helping the mobility of disabled people. 

We encourage a culture 
of continuous improvement 
We all focus on the quality of our service and encourage 
ideas from everyone to improve what we do and how. 

We have empathy and are 
respectful to everyone 
Whether we are dealing with colleagues, suppliers or 
customers, we value that each individual is unique and 
recognise individual differences. 

We listen, are practical 
and approachable 
We are easy to work with at all levels of the organisation 
and we work in an ethical and open way. 

We value the expertise 
of everyone we work with 
We value the individual skills of our colleagues and those 
organisations we work with to help fulfil our purpose. 



  

 

The Motability Foundation 

The Motability Foundation is an 
endowment trust, established in 
September 2019. 

The Motability Foundation is 
legally registered as The Motability 
Endowment Trust with the Charity 
Commission in England and Wales as 
a linked charity to Motability under 
registration number: 299745-1. 

The Foundation’s sole purpose is to 
support Motability (which is its sole 
corporate trustee). Its funds come 
from the substantial donation from 
Motability Operations at the conclusion 
of its 2018/19 financial year and the 
transfer on 31 March 2020 of the 
net assets of the Motability Tenth 
Anniversary Trust (originally set up 
in 1989 to support Motability). We 
anticipate future donations from 
Motability Operations to be made  
to the Foundation but cannot be 
certain of the amount or timing.  
The Foundation does not prepare 
separate financial statements; 
its results are presented within 
Motability’s financial statements  
under the Endowment column. 

A key strategic role of the Foundation is 
to provide financial resilience, enabling 
Motability to continue supporting grant 
programmes, even in times when 
donations from Motability Operations 

fall below expectation, or a donation 
cannot be made due to economic 
conditions. These substantial funds will 
be invested to deliver a return that will 
help the funding of our grant-making 
activity for the benefit of disabled 
people in the decades to come. 

Donations from Motability Operations 
have been, and will continue to be, a 
critical part of our future grant-making 
and, therefore, Motability will have to 
manage the scale of its grant-making 
having regard to its assessment of 
the likelihood of future donations, 
once the current unrestricted reserves 
have been substantially drawn down. 
Given the uncertain timing of future 
donations from Motability Operations, 
Motability will use the current 
unrestricted reserves to try to ensure 
that grant-making programmes are 
financially sustainable over the next 
few years. 

The investment strategy for the 
Foundation will be to protect, in real 
terms, the ability of these funds to 

deliver a reliable, long-term source 
of return for Motability for current 
and future generations. This will be 
achieved by managing risk in an 
appropriately diversified portfolio, 
structured with the help of expert 
advice. It is not intended for the 
Foundation to be a regular source of 
funding for budget deficits. The Charity 
has a system of financial control and 
forecasting in place, and will use this 
to set budgets in future years as part 
of the normal business cycle. 

Lane, Clark and Peacock (LCP) were 
appointed investment advisors, and  
an investment policy, including an 
asset allocation strategy, has been 
approved by the Board of Governors. 
The Investment Committee appointed 
and monitored the initial fund 
managers and commissioned a 
responsible investment policy. 

At 31 March 2020, the Endowment’s 
£1bn investment portfolio was held  
as follows: 

ASSET CLASS £m
  Equity Securities 325
 Debt Securities 207

  Money market instruments 281
 Other 38

  Cash, deposits and accrued income 160
  Total Portfolio 1,011 
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STRATEGIC PILLAR 

Motability Scheme 

The Scheme is available to disabled 
people who receive one of the 
following: 

– Higher Rate Mobility Component  
of Disability Living Allowance  
(HRMC of DLA) 

– Enhanced Rate Mobility Component 
of Personal Independence Payment 
(ERMC of PIP) 

– War Pensioners’ Mobility Supplement 
(WPMS) 

– Armed Forces Independence 
Payment (AFIP) 

Today, more than 630,000 people 
benefit from the Motability Scheme, 
and since 1978, when the first cars 
were delivered, more than five  
million cars, powered wheelchairs  
and scooters have been provided  
to enhance their mobility. 

It is entirely up to the disabled 
person whether they choose to use 
their mobility allowance to join the 
Motability Scheme or to spend it in 
some other way. 

– One in three of those who are 
currently eligible to do so have 
chosen to join the Scheme 

– Around two-thirds of Scheme 
customers drive, but those who  

do not can still lease a car and travel  
as a passenger 

– Similarly, parents or carers can also 
apply to join on behalf of a child aged 
three and above. It is important that 
the car is used by, or for the benefit 
of, the disabled person 

Motability Scheme customers can 
lease a new car, with insurance, road 
tax, servicing, tyres and breakdown 
cover all included. A wide range of 
adaptations and Wheelchair Accessible 
Vehicles (WAVs) are also available. 
A similar Scheme exists for those 
wishing to lease a scooter or powered 
wheelchair. 

people benefit from 
630,000 
the Motability Scheme 

Scheme Oversight 
Oversight of the Motability Scheme is 
carried out by a team at Motability, 
reporting to the Scheme Oversight 
Committee which meets quarterly.  
The Scheme Oversight Committee 
directs future oversight activity and 
evaluates the outcomes. 

In exercising oversight of the Scheme, 
Motability is guided by its founding 
principles: solutions that meet the 
needs of our beneficiaries, providing 
the highest standard of service; the 
best possible value for money; and 
financial sustainability for the long 
term. 

Motability exercises oversight of the 
Scheme and of Motability Operations  
in a variety of ways, through the 
Scheme Agreement (the contract  
with Motability Operations), including: 

– Review of monthly Key Performance 
Indicator (KPI) reports which 
define actual performance against 
contractual requirements 

– Analysis of customer research 
to identify how well the Scheme 
is meeting the current needs of 
Scheme customers 

– Discussion of current activity and 
future plans at the quarterly Scheme 
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Oversight Committee which includes 
directors of Motability Operations 

– Assessment of information provided 
through Motability’s attendance 
at some of Motability Operations’ 
governance committees 

– Appraisal of ad hoc reporting as 
requested by Motability 

This is in addition to the routine 
dialogue between senior management 
of Motability and Motability Operations 
on significant issues impacting the 
operational performance of the Scheme. 

The contractual KPIs are reviewed 
annually with Motability Operations 
to ensure that they remain relevant 
and focused on the most important 
elements of customers’ needs and 
experiences. All KPIs were satisfactory 
until COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. 
The contractual obligation is kept 
under regular review. The COVID-19 
pandemic led Motability and Motability 
Operations to consult almost daily. 
Lockdown led to fewer drivers on the 
road and the Scheme saw lower levels 
of accident claims, enabling it to share 
this saving with customers. Motability 
Operations made the decision, in 
consultation with Motability Governors, 
to send an insurance-based refund  
of £50 to all customers. 

Motability Operations and Motability 
also agreed that Motability Scheme 
customers who experienced temporary 
and exceptional financial need during 
the COVID-19 pandemic, would be able 
to access an advance of £600 Good 
Condition Bonus (GCB) usually paid at 

the end of the lease. Around 12,000 
customers took this up (as at the end 
of June 2020). 

Scheme Performance 
Motability continues to believe 
that Motability Operations is highly 
effective in delivering the Scheme to 
eligible disabled people. In reaching 
this assessment, Motability not only 
reflects on formal reporting but also 
on discussions on specific issues with 
Motability Operations. During the year, 
the Scheme Oversight Committee 
reviewed a number of areas including: 

Value For Money 
The Motability Scheme offers 
customers excellent value for money, 
with independent analysis in March 
2020 indicating that prices for the 
50 most popular Scheme models 
represent, on average, a saving of 
44.8% (25.3% excluding Value Added 
Tax and Insurance Premium Tax relief) 
when compared on a like-for-like basis 
to the offerings of other major leasing 
companies. 

We are exploring the development of 
additional ways to demonstrate value 
for money including analysis that 
demonstrates that the average vehicle 
value on the Scheme is growing at a 
faster rate than the value of disability 
benefits. 

Customer Satisfaction 
Every year, the Scheme Oversight 
Committee reviews the results 
and methodology of the bi-annual 
customer satisfaction surveys. Overall 

Satisfaction remains high at 98%,  
the same as the previous year. 

These scores are validated through 
an external appraisal by the Institute 
of Customer Service which is an 
independent professional organisation 
which works with its members to raise 
the standards of customer service in 
the UK. In 2019, Motability Operations 
obtained a satisfaction rating of 93.7%. 
This was down slightly from the 2018 
score of 94.3%, although Motability 
Operations remains one of the highest 
performing organisations in the UK. 

Powered Wheelchairs and Scooters 
A review of this Scheme identified 
strong and improving customer 
satisfaction (Overall Satisfaction up 
from 95% to 96%); growing customer 
numbers (16,619 at March 2020, a 
year-on-year increase of 5%); a wide 
selection of available equipment; and  
a focus on improving the experience 
for powered wheelchair customers 
with the most complex needs. 

Trackers 
Trackers are fitted by Motability 
Operations where there is deemed to 
be the highest risk of vehicle misuse.  
The policy for fitting trackers was 
reviewed together with how they are 
monitored by Motability Operations 
and the action taken if misuse is 
identified, including exclusion of a 
customer from the Scheme. It was 
considered that the tracker process 
continues to provide an effective 
deterrent and control over potential 
vehicle misuse. 
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Meet Angela� 
Having a grant has given Angela and her husband a new lease of life 

“Getting a specially adapted 
Mercedes Sprinter was life-changing. 
I went from a smaller estate car, 
where it took 45 minutes to get 
my husband, his wheelchair, my 
wheelchair and myself in or out of 
the vehicle, to it taking minutes,” 
explains Angela. “I’ve had it for years  
and I still can’t believe how good it is.”  

Angela says she was on the verge 
of giving up driving before getting 
the Sprinter. Instead, the ease of 

getting in and out of it has given  
the couple a new lease of life. 

“We can go to a friend’s house 
and come home at 1am because it 
takes just minutes to get out of the 
car,” she says. “We live three miles 
from the beach so now we can just 
get in the car and visit the seafront 
without worrying about how long 
it will take. We can also continue 
doing voluntary work in our local 
community and, most importantly, 

it helps me to care for my husband 
independently.” 

Having the car meant the couple 
could take a three-week holiday 
touring the UK as well as plenty of 
other trips around the UK. They have 
their sights on holidays abroad next. 

“The car has enabled us to do more  
travelling. We love to visit places like 
Scotland  – there’s no better feeling  
than  driving down a country lane and  
stopping to watch deer cross the road.”  
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Major Risks 
Operational and financial risks arising 
within Motability Operations are 
addressed by their own separate Audit 
Committee, which is chaired by an 
independent Non-Executive Director. 

The Chair of Motability’s Audit and Risk 
Committee, together with Motability’s 
CEO and Director of Finance, attend 
Motability Operations Audit Committee 
meetings in order to inform the 
Motability Board of any emerging  
risks that may impact the Scheme. 

Summary of the Motability  
Scheme’s Key Risks 
The key principle Scheme risks 
identified currently are: 

– Residual values of the vehicles  
in the used car market which 
impacts the profitability, reserves 
and Scheme pricing 

– The Scheme fails to evolve to  
meet a changing environment 

– Inability to respond to the impact  
of COVID-19 pandemic 

– Failure of key suppliers or 
manufacturers limiting the offering 
to customers and restricting  
residual values of the vehicles 

– Operational failure of key systems 
or processes resulting in business 
disruption 

– The loss or harm related to cyber-
attack or data security breach 

– Default of key income streams  
and exposure to bad debt 

One third  
of eligible 
disabled 
people 

choose to join 
the Scheme 

Full details of Motability Scheme  
risks with impacts and mitigations 
can be reviewed in the Motability 
Operations Annual Report. 

Scheme Policy 
Motability continues to monitor the 
Scheme offering to ensure it remains 
appropriate and continues to deliver 
value to its customers while remaining 
consistent with the Scheme’s core 
objectives. We protect the integrity 
and reputation of the Scheme by 
ensuring that policies related to the 
vehicles leased, how they are used 
and by whom, are appropriate and 
effective. 

Policy issues are reviewed by the 
Scheme Oversight Committee and 
referred to the Board of Governors for 
final assessment and decisions. During 
the year, the following specific policy 
matters were reviewed: 

Accessible Vehicle and Equipment 
Scheme in Scotland 
Disability benefits have been devolved 
to the Government in Scotland where 
they intend to develop their own 
portfolio of benefits. In advance of 
implementing them, they wanted to 
introduce a new leasing programme 
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for vehicles and powered wheelchairs 
to ultimately be paid for by the 
devolved benefits. Motability, the 
Charity and Motability Operations  
have successfully applied and been 
granted joint accreditation to continue 
to deliver the Scheme in Scotland. 

Eligible Non-Scheme Customers 
Approximately one third of eligible 
disabled people choose to join the 
Scheme. It is, however, important 
to understand why eligible people 
choose not to join the Scheme, and 
a programme of research has been 
initiated to improve understanding  
of why this is and what barriers exist.   
So far, research has highlighted  
that some people do not like the 
concept of leasing, alongside a lack 
of awareness of the Scheme generally. 
Further work will be done to improve 
both awareness and understanding 
of the Motability Scheme and of 
Motability, the Charity. 

Vehicle Availability – Hybrid  
and Electric Vehicles 
Motability ensures that there is a 
wide choice of vehicles available to 
customers, while ensuring that vehicle 
eligibility for the Scheme is focused  
on the most cost-effective vehicles 
that meet the disability requirements 
of Scheme customers. 

During the year, interest in hybrid 
and electric vehicles grew. Efforts 
were made to ensure as wide a 
choice of these vehicles as possible, 
and in particular to ensure that the 

eligibility criteria did not limit the 
inclusion of appropriate vehicles. It 
is likely that demand and popularity 
for these vehicles will increase further 
in the future, in particular given that 
the mileage range of newer electric 
vehicles is improving significantly.  
Providing as wide a choice of these 
vehicles remains a priority but, at the 
same time, we recognise that these 
vehicles are currently more expensive 
than regular internal combustion 
engine equivalents and are also 
subject to different supply dynamics. 

National Audit Office 
Review 
During 2018 the National Audit 
Office (NAO) conducted a review  
of Motability, the Motability Scheme, 
and Motability Operations. The 
findings were published in December 
2018. It said that ‘the Motability 
Scheme provides an excellent service’ 
and made four recommendations 
specifically for Motability. Progress in 
addressing these recommendations 
was provided in the 2018/19 Annual 
Report.  

The only outstanding Scheme-related 
matter is updating and enhancing 
the Scheme Agreement. This 
process is in hand and progressing 
in close consultation with Motability 
Operations. 

Aims 2020/21 
• Ensure that the Scheme continues  

to operate to its current high 
standard for customers, offering 
value for money and excellent 
customer service, and minimises 
the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on customers 

• Complete work to renew the 
Scheme Agreement with Motability 
Operations, including a new 
performance framework  
and updated KPIs, with a focus  
on securing the best outcomes  
for disabled people 

• Demonstrate the value for money 
that the Scheme offers to customers 
more clearly 

• Seek to maintain price stability 
and the Scheme’s financial health 
in an uncertain economic climate, 
including the recovery from the 
COVID-19 pandemic 

• Together with Motability Operations, 
develop environmental positioning, 
particularly on electric vehicles 
and transitioning towards the 
Government target for 2035 
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STRATEGIC PILLAR 

Grant-Making 

Through our grant-making 
programmes in 2019/20, Motability 
committed more than £71 million  
in direct grant-making to support  
more than 25,000 disabled beneficiaries 
with the financial cost of their 
transportation needs – up from  
£53 million in 2018/19. Research with 
nearly 3,000 beneficiaries highlighted 
the huge impact a Motability grant  
has had in enhancing the lives of 
disabled people and their families 
by providing them access to 
transportation – increasing their 
ability to socialise, attend medical 
appointments, work, undertake 
volunteering activities, or attend 
education and gain qualifications. 

During 2019/20 we have also looked  
to do more – by extending and 
enhancing our grant programmes to 
customers of the Motability Scheme, 
by launching new grant programmes, 
and by developing Motability’s first 
grants programme to support other 
charities or organisations with similar 
objectives to our own. We also 
completed a full review of our grant-
making activities, ensuring that they 
continue to meet legal requirements 
and best-practice guidelines. As a 
result, this year we have developed 
improved grant-making policies and 
updated our charitable grants section 
of the Motability website to ensure 
that our beneficiaries can easily and 
clearly see how we are able to support 
them through our grant programmes. 
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‘ I would not have 
been able to drive, 
I would be stuck 
in my room, never 
going anywhere. 
It has given me 
freedom.’ 
Driving Lessons 
Grant Programme 

£
£71 million to 
support more 
than 25,000 
beneficiaries
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Scheme-Related 
Grant Programmes 

Whilst the vast majority of Motability 
Scheme customers use just their 
mobility allowance to lease the vehicle 
they require, there are still some who 
are unable to afford the vehicle or 
adaptations they need to be able to 
access the benefits of the Motability 
Scheme. Support through a charitable 
grant from Motability can mean a 
world of difference to our beneficiaries 
and their families, to be able to enjoy 
the freedom and independence so 
many of us take for granted. 

In 2019/20 Motability awarded more 
than 12,000 Scheme-related grants, 
committing more than £51 million 
through the following Scheme-related 
grants programmes: 

Car and Vehicle 
Adaptations Grant 
Programme 
Our Car and Vehicle Adaptations Grant 
Programme supports customers of the 
Motability Scheme with the additional 
cost of a vehicle or adaptations to 

meet their disability needs. Although 
many adaptations are available at 
no additional cost on the Scheme, 
more complex adaptations such as 
mechanical and electric swivel seats, 
person hoists, rooftop wheelchair 
storage devices, and electronic 
driving controls are considerably more 
expensive. In 2019/20, we awarded 
7,560 grants (up from 4,986 in 
2018/19) and committed £13.8 million  
(up from £6 million in 2018/19). 

When asked why they 
applied for a grant, 
58% said they could 
not afford any vehicle 
without a grant
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Meet Joanne 
Joanne, 46, lives in Bournemouth with her husband, Ian, and two children. Joanne received 
a grant for the Advance Payment towards her Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle (WAV)  

“Ian is my full-time carer so we share 
every day together. I am at home  
a lot of the time due to physical and 
medical limitations, but when we  
can get out, the car is worth its 
weight in gold. Having it means 
we can come and go at our own 
pace and I have a safe sanctuary 
inside the car if everything gets 
overwhelming or I have a seizure.” 

Before joining the Motability 
Scheme, Joanne and Ian were 
unable to travel as a couple, and 
Joanne rarely left their home. 

“Having my vehicle means I am no 
longer a prisoner in my own home. 

We couldn’t use a standard car as  
I have a large powered wheelchair so 
I was restricted to a mile radius from 
my front door. Since having my WAV 
I feel like I have complete freedom to 
do what I like, when I like, when my 
body allows. I feel included in day-
to-day things, something as simple 
as food shopping. It also makes 
doctors’ and hospital appointments 
more tolerable, and I no longer have 
to rely on NHS transport. 

“I like being out with Ian and 
feeling like a normal couple, doing 
normal things. I believe that means 
a lot to most disabled people – just 

feeling included. One of the things 
that meant the most to me was 
being able to go to the Lake District 
with Ian. I was able to support him 
in the Lakesman, a triathlon held in 
Keswick. He had to swim 1.2 miles, 
cycle 56 miles and then run a half 
marathon. I was able to be there and 
support him all the way. I also had 
the opportunity to climb The Fells 
in an off-road wheelchair. This trip 
was a once-in-a-lifetime experience 
which Motability made possible, and 
I can’t thank them enough. We are 
looking forward to more adventures 
together.” 
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Wheelchair Accessible 
Vehicles (WAVs) Grant 
Programme 
WAVs are vehicles that have been 
adapted to enable a wheelchair 
user to access and remain in their 
wheelchair when travelling. Through 
our WAVs Grant Programme in 
2019/20 we committed £18.8 million 
to support nearly 4,000 disabled 
beneficiaries with the cost of a WAV 
lease through the Motability Scheme, 
including adaptations needed for 
getting into their WAV or securing  
their wheelchair safely. 

In April 2019, Motability Governors 
agreed to “extend and enhance” 
the grant programme to specifically 
look at how we can support disabled 
people with more complex needs. 
Two pilot projects have been running 
during 2019/20 which will help us 
shape the programme for the coming 
years. 

Complex Driving Solutions 
Grant Programme 
Some disabled people need a bespoke 
driving solution or adaptations which 
enable them to access a vehicle whilst 
remaining in their wheelchair and 
either drive from their wheelchair or 
transfer onto a specialist driver seat. 
They may also need specialist controls 
to be able to drive. As these vehicles 
are tailored around the individual, 
they are considerably more expensive 
than a standard production WAV. They 
often require complex adaptations, 
together with familiarisation driving 
lessons, so the disabled person can 
get used to driving their new vehicle 
and use its controls safely. 

In April 2019, Motability Governors 
agreed to extend and enhance the 
grant programme to support more 
individuals with Complex Driving 
Solutions. In 2019/20 Motability 
provided both advice and grants 
to 613 beneficiaries, (up from 459 
in 2018/19 and 339 in 2017/18) 
committing £18.5 million to enable 
them to drive independently. During 
the year, we also worked closely with 
the converter industry to understand 
the opportunities for further growth 
and undertook research with those 
previously awarded a grant to further 
improve the proposition of the grant 
programme. 

99% say that 
having their 
vehicle has 
made a difference 
to their ability to 
attend health 
appointments 
/ access health 
services
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Access to Mobility  
Grant Programmes 

Our newly formed collection of Access 
to Mobility Grant Programmes has 
been created to support our vision 
that no disabled person shall be 
disadvantaged due to poor access  
to transportation. In 2019/20, 
Motability awarded 13,690 grants, 
committing more than £19 million 
through the following grant 
programmes: 

Driving Lessons  
Grant Programme 
Through our Driving Lessons Grant 
Programme, Motability provides 
grants towards the cost of learning 
to drive for disabled people who have 
a provisional licence and want a full 
driving licence. We can also provide 
grants to disabled people who already 
have a driving licence but need 
familiarisation lessons; for example, if 
they need to get used to new driving 
adaptations. In 2019/20, we supported 
1,113 disabled people with our partner 
the AA Driving School, and we plan to 
increase this in future years. 

Transitional Support 
Programme (TSP) 
In 2013, the Government began a 
programme to replace the Disability 
Living Allowance (DLA) with a Personal 
Independence Payment (PIP) for 

disabled people aged between 16 and 
64. As a result of the reassessment 
process, and transition from DLA to 
PIP, some disabled people lose their 
eligibility for the Motability Scheme. 

Motability recognises the difficulty 
and hardship many disabled people 
face when no longer being eligible 
to remain on the Motability Scheme 
and, in 2013, announced a package of 
support measures. To date, Motability 
has provided more than £133 million 
to support disabled people to remain 
mobile when leaving the Motability 
Scheme. 

Additional Transitional 
Support Grant Programme 
We recognise that some disabled 
people may experience significant 
potential hardship when losing their 
eligibility for the Motability Scheme as 

a result of an unsuccessful transition 
from DLA to PIP, for example not being 
able to continue in their employment. 
In these situations, Motability is  
able to offer additional financial 
support towards the cost of buying  
a replacement vehicle or transferring 
adaptations to a new vehicle. In 
2019/20 our Additional Transitional 
Support Grant Programme supported 
135 individuals with these additional 
needs, committing just over £400,000. 

Stopped Allowance  
Support Grant Programme 
In 2019/20, Motability launched a new 
grant programme to support Scheme 
customers who lose their higher rate 
mobility benefit through reassessment, 
either in transitioning to PIP, renewing 
their PIP award, or in renewing their 
DLA award but are not eligible for the 
TSP. This Stopped Allowance Support 
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 When asked why they 
applied for a grant, 88%  
said they could not afford 
lessons without a grant
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Meet Danielle 
Danielle and her two children have Spondyloepiphyseal dysplasia congenita.  
She learned to drive through Motability’s Driving Lessons Grant Programme 

“Before joining the Motability  
Scheme we didn’t travel unless  
it was for essential things such  
as hospital appointments, and for  
this we relied on taxis. We were 
mainly housebound when it came  
to social activities. With my children 
and I having the same medical 
condition, using public transport  
was extremely difficult. 

“Having a car and learning to  
drive has completely changed  
both mine and my children’s lives. 
We are now able to enjoy days  

out and are a lot more independent. 
We no longer have to rely on other 
people for appointments, and we  
can visit friends and family and  
enjoy a social life, which was near 
impossible before. It has given me  
so much freedom – it is unbelievable. 
I honestly don’t know how we 
managed before. 

“Without Motability providing 
funding for me to learn to drive,  
and giving me the support to do  
so, I don’t think I would have ever 
learned to drive. Me and my two 

children would still be stuck in  
the house. Now we can simply  
pop out in the car without having  
to plan too much. We have the 
freedom to go where we like and 
enjoy life. 

“Both me and my children have  
a lot of weekly hospital appointments, 
which I used to dread simply 
because of transport. Being able  
to drive myself has built my 
confidence and made me realise  
we can be a happy, independent  
little family, thanks to Motability.” 
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 Supported 3,498 individuals 
with their ongoing mobility, 
spending £3.7 million 

Grant Programme will be available for 
three years from September 2019. 

Through the grant programme, 
Motability will help Scheme customers 
leaving the Scheme due to a stopped 
allowance (following reassessment), 
with a payment of £1,000. This can 
provide essential help to a disabled 
person with their ongoing mobility 
costs, including finding alternative 
transport options. Powered Wheelchair 
and Scooter Scheme customers can 
apply for a smaller payment which  
will give them the option to buy  
their Scheme wheelchair or scooter.

 

Since launched in September 2019 
the programme has supported 3,498 
individuals with their ongoing mobility, 
spending £3.7 million. 

Access to Work Grants 
In January 2020, and in consultation 
with the DWP, Motability launched 
a further new grant programme to 
support our disabled beneficiaries with 
the personal costs of transportation 
equipment required to gain 
employment. 

The Government’s Access to Work 
Programme provides support to 
disabled people who are in work 
or have the offer of work. Support 

offered by Access to Work includes 
grants towards the cost of equipment 
required for individuals to gain or  
retain employment. 

If a grant is offered through Access 
to Work, it will require a personal 
contribution from the applicant if the 
equipment can also provide a benefit 
outside of work. This is known as the 
‘Social and Domestic Contribution’ and 
has been a long-standing feature of 
the DWP’s Access to Work Programme. 

Although Motability has no role in 
determining who should receive 

assistance from the Access to Work 
Programme, as this decision is made 
solely by the DWP, we now support 
disabled people with grants towards 
the Social and Domestic Contribution 
for transport-related equipment, 
including manual and powered 
wheelchairs, scooters and vehicle 
adaptations through our Motability 
Access to Work Grant programme. 

Since its launch in January 2020,  
we have supported 20 individuals 
through this new programme. 
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Special Grant Programmes 

During 2019/20, work began on the 
development of a new Motability 
grants programme to support 
other charities and organisations 
with similar objectives to our own. 
Motability’s Governors on the Grant-
Making Committee have supported  
this work by providing direction  
and reflections from their experiences 
outside of Motability. The Committee 
also reviewed applications for two 
special grants during the year which 
are detailed below. In 2020/21 we 
will continue to further develop our 
Motability Special Grants Programme 
and, alongside the work we are 
undertaking on our innovation pillar, 
look to increase the range and reach 
of how we support our disabled 
beneficiaries with the financial  
cost of their transportation needs. 

Special Grant  
Programme – Designability 
Designability is a national charity 
based in Bath that enables disabled 
children and adults to live with 
greater independence. They provide 
powered mobility solutions to very 
young children through a free loan 
scheme. The powered wheelchair 
product made available to children 
through the loan scheme, known 
as the Wizzybug, is designed and 
manufactured by a specialist in-house 
team at Designability. Each Wizzybug 
is bespoke to the child in question,  
and adjusted specifically for their 
needs. The child has use of the 
Wizzybug for as long as it can  
provide a benefit, following which  
it is returned to Designability, 
refurbished, re-customised, and 
provided to another child. 

Motability is providing Designability 
with grant funding in phases over 
the course of five years to expand 
the Wizzybug Loan Scheme, and 
to consider how the Wizzybug can 
be modified to support an even 
wider range of disabled children. 
Designability’s CEO, Catharine Brown, 
said that the grant funding provided 
by Motability “will allow us to bring  
the benefits of independent mobility 
to so many more disabled children, 
and in turn increase their social 
participation and life chances.” 

Motability believes that no child  
should be disadvantaged by poor 
access to mobility solutions, especially 
during the developmentally crucial 
early years of their life. Powered 
mobility solutions for children promote 
independence, participation, an 
inclusive attitude amongst their  
peers, and improvements in both 
mental and motor development. 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20   www.motability.org.uk  41

GR
AN

T-
M

AK
IN

G

Oscar’s story 
Oscar loves his Wizzybug so much his mum wanted to share their story 

“When they examined Oscar’s  
body at my 20 week scan, they  
found that his limbs were in a 
strange position. His legs were bent 
around at the wrong angle, and 
some of his fingers and one wrist 
were in a ‘6’ position. Their first 
thought was that Oscar may have 
had talipes – an early birth defect 
that can be easily treated. I had  
to have further invasive tests,  
which were inconclusive. It was  
a time of uncertainty. 

“When Oscar was born, his leg 
broke during labour. It was not 
long afterwards that they gave 
us the diagnosis of arthrogryposis 
– a condition which affects joint 
flexibility, causes muscle weakness, 
and means he is unable to stand. 

“Wizzybug has given him the 
independence he didn’t have before. 
He used to watch his cousins run 
about while stuck in his pushchair, 
but now he can zoom off with them! 

“He has grown in confidence since 

getting his Wizzybug, both at home 
and at nursery. He is finally able 
to follow his friends during all the 
different activities they get up to. He 
enjoys telling everyone that it is his 
Wizzybug and he does the driving! 

“Oscar has had the help of  
lots of other assistive technology 
since he was born, but nothing  
else compares. It’s the first non-
medical looking piece of equipment 
that has changed all of our lives – 
especially his – for the better.”
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Hadley’s story 
Family Fund and Motability provided Hadley’s family with a lease for a  
car last year, which has already made a big difference to the family’s life 
Hadley, two, was born with Group B 
Strep, but it was undiagnosed and 
led to her developing meningitis 
at three days old which caused 
extensive brain damage. Hadley has 
since been diagnosed with cerebral 
palsy and neurological problems, 
microcephalus and gastro problems. 
She is unable to walk and requires 
around-the-clock care and regular 
medical and care appointments. 

Family Fund and Motability 

provided the family with a lease for a 
car last year. “The process was quick. 
We were really grateful,” says dad, 
Chris. It has made a big difference to  
family life, allowing Hadley’s parents, 
Toni and Chris, to access the local 
respite service. It has also cut down  

time attending appointments at 
hospital, which required a three- 
hour round bus trip. “It’s made us  
a lot happier as a family as there’s  
no stress,” says Chris. “We’re able  
to attend our appointments and  
go out as a family.” 

‘ The process was quick.  
We were really grateful.’
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Special Grant Programme – 
Family Fund 
Working in partnership with the charity 
Family Fund, Motability has been 
exploring ways to support families 
with severely disabled children under 
the age of three who are currently 
ineligible to qualify for DLA and 
therefore unable to join the Motability 
Scheme. A first phase pilot funded  
by the Motability Tenth Anniversary 
Trust and costing £1.5 million, ran  
for 18 months from January 2018.  
The initiative, called Family Fund 
Mobility Support, looks to provide  
a fully-funded leased vehicle to 

families who would otherwise struggle 
to afford the mobility solution they 
need. Based on the success of the first 
phase pilot, in March 2020, Motability 
provided funding of £0.5 million to 
Family Fund for a further 12 months 
pilot of this important initiative. The 
findings of this second phase will help 
Motability shape any further support  
in this area for future years. 

Aims for 2020/21 
•  To continue to achieve high levels 

of beneficiary satisfaction regarding 
their application for a grant 

•  To recover from the COVID-19 
cessation of grant-making and return 
to normal operating and spending 
levels as quickly as possible 

•  To develop the Motability Special 
Grants Programme 

•  To continue to build our understanding 
of the impact that our grant-making 
has on the transportation needs of 
our disabled beneficiaries

 PROGRAMMES 

 £  Number of grants 

2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19

 Cars and Adaptations 13,770,482  6,028,270  7,560  4,986 
 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 18,788,663  13,933,205  3,932  3,281 
 Complex Driver Solution 18,524,525  11,963,718  613  459 
 Scheme-Related Grants (A) 51,083,670  31,925,193  12,105  8,726 
    
 Driving Lesson Support 1,401,623  1,006,308  1,113  856 
 Stopped Allowance Support 3,658,469         -  3,498    - 
 PIP - Transition Support Payment 13,671,000  18,953,000  8,924  12,981 
 PIP - Additional Transition Support 407,490  775,668  135  259 
 Access to Work 26,085  

                  

                         -  20  

                   

                     - 
 Access to Mobility (B) 19,164,667  20,734,976  13,690  14,096 
    
 Grants to Individuals (A)+(B) 70,248,337  52,660,169  25,795  22,822 
    

 Family Fund 500,000     -  1   - 
 Designability 300,000     -  1    - 
 Special Grants 800,000  

                      
                      

-  2  

                    
                   

- 
    
 Grand Total 71,048,337  52,660,169  25,797  22,822
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STRATEGIC PILLAR 

Build Awareness 

We aim to build awareness and 
understanding about Motability and 
the Motability Scheme, so that no-one 
is excluded from the benefits of the 
Scheme or the Charity through a lack 
of knowledge. We provide information 
both to people who could use the 
Scheme and to those who care for  
or advise them. 

A leaflet about the Motability Scheme 
is mailed quarterly to all eligible 
recipients of Higher Rate Mobility 
Component of Disability Living 
Allowance (HRMC DLA), and to all  
Enhanced Rate Mobility Component 
of Personal Independence Payment 
(ERMC PIP) recipients on a monthly 
basis by the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) on our behalf. 
In 2019/20 we mailed 484,710 DLA 
recipients and 29,454 PIP recipients.  
PIP mailings had been on hold during 
2019  whilst we resolved GDPR issues. 

Healthcare Professionals 
We currently mail a newsletter to all 
our contacts to update on Scheme  
and Charity news, and remind them  
of Scheme literature available. 

This newsletter was also displayed at 
all relevant exhibitions and inserted 
into delegate packs wherever possible.  

Advertising and Editorial Features 
Our aim is to help broaden awareness 
to a wide range of audiences, from 
disabled people, their families and 
friends, to healthcare professionals, 
other disability groups and charities.  
We do this primarily through the 
stories of our beneficiaries. 

Exhibitions                            
We attended several major exhibitions 
and also arranged for both Motability 
and Scheme information leaflets to be 
given to delegates where we did not 
attend in person throughout the UK. All 
exhibitions were cancelled from April 
2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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Andy’s story 
Andy was always a keen sportsman, but in 1997, whilst playing for Charlton Park  
Rugby Club, Andy broke his neck in a scrum and was told he would never walk again 

During his rehabilitation at the Spinal 
Injuries Unit at Stanmore Royal 
National Orthopaedic Hospital, Andy 
discovered that he could still play 
rugby in a wheelchair and, less than 
a year after his injury, he signed up 
to play with the London Broncos. 

In 1999, Andy was invited to his 
first training session with the Great 
British team and has never looked 
back. He has competed all over 

the world, from the Paralympics in 
Athens and Beijing, to tournaments 
in New Zealand, America and Europe. 

As a full-time professional athlete, 
Andy is always busy training and 
competing, both at home and 
abroad, so to help him get around 
with ease when he’s in the UK, he 
leases an adapted car through the 
Motability Scheme. 

“Having my own transport means  

I don’t need to rely on others for help 
– I can just get in the car and drive 
myself to training or wherever else  
I need to be,” Andy says. 

“The car is fitted with hand controls 
to help me drive independently. 
The steering wheel grip is great for 
people with poor mobility in their 
hands and the push/pull brake and 
accelerator enable me to drive 
without using the foot pedals.”
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Lifestyle Magazine                
Lifestyle aims to inform and update 
Scheme customers and beneficiaries 
through an holistic ‘lifestyle’ magazine, 
by providing information, advice and 
news about Motability, the Charity  
and the Scheme. On average, 471,120 
copies are mailed quarterly. 

Press and Public Relations 
Our Press and Public Relations team 
work to raise our overall profile, 
to increase the number of events 
and media coverage, particularly 
through car handovers and proactive 
communication with our media 
contacts. All proactive activity was  
put on hold from April 2020 due to  
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

We continued to work with MPs and 
their constituency offices to maintain 
and strengthen political and public 
support for Motability and the Scheme, 
and to promote broader knowledge 
and understanding of the Scheme 
and its benefits among MPs so they 
are able to advise and inform their 
constituents. 

Aims for 2020/21 
Create engaging ways of raising 
awareness both of our charitable work 
and the Motability Scheme by: 
•  Building awareness and 

understanding of Motability as a 
grant-making charity to all potential 
beneficiaries by creating individual 
campaigns and bespoke materials, 
based on sound research, for each 
grant programme in line with 
resources and capacity, and taking 
account of the impact of COVID-19 
pandemic on various activities 

•  Launching new website for 
motability.org.uk 

•  Developing and implementing 
a digital vision and strategy for 
Motability by March 2021 

• Establish Motability’s identity as  
a leading grant-making charity
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STRATEGIC PILLAR 

Innovation 
We have a bold vision to ensure that 
disabled people are not disadvantaged 
by poor access to transportation, 
and we are determined to increase 
the range and reach of what we do, 
looking beyond the Motability Scheme. 

In 2019/20 we consulted with disabled 
people and disability organisations, 
as well as our own frontline staff, 
to better understand what mobility 
problems disabled people are facing 
and what solutions would help them. 
 
Offering support for families with 
a disabled child under the age of 
three was the mostly highly ranked 
proposal among disabled people. 

Governors approved a second phase 
pilot for Family Fund to support 
families with a disabled child under the 
age of three, committing £0.5 million 
in the first instance. A first phase pilot 
had run for 18 months from January 
2018, funded by the Motability Tenth 
Anniversary Trust. The pilot scheme 
is called Family Fund Mobility Support 
and is aimed at families who would 
otherwise struggle to afford the 
mobility solution they need. Please  
see page 43 for more detail in our 
grant-making section. 

Governors also approved the first grant 
from the new Motability Special Grants 
Programme to the charity Designability 
to accelerate their important work to 
develop the Wizzybug loan scheme for 
young children over a five-year period. 
Designability will provide powered 
mobility solutions to children under the 
age of three through a free equipment 
loan scheme. Please see page 40 
for more detail in our grant-making 
section. 

These are some examples of 
innovation that are now being 
established as part of our grant-
making goals. 

73% of disabled people we consulted 
also supported investment in 
research and innovation to shape 
the future of mobility for disabled 
people. 

In response, the Motability Board 
decided to establish a new research 
and innovation capability for the 
Charity, agreed key research themes, 
and set out to develop a robust 
framework to guide its innovation 
activity. 

We aim to understand: 

–  What are the perceived barriers and 
facilitators to accessing and using 
the Motability Scheme? 

–  Do specific population groups 
face greater or lesser barriers and 
facilitators to accessing and using 
the Motability Scheme? 

–  What are the gaps in the current 
Motability Scheme in meeting the 
transportation needs of people living 
with disabilities? 

–  What transport challenges do people 
living with disabilities experience? 

–  What interventions have maximised 
access to transport for people living 
with disabilities? 

–  What is needed to enable disabled 
people to enjoy the same choice  
and freedom of transport as their 
non-disabled peers? 

Initial Research Findings 
We have carried out new analysis 
of the National Travel Survey 2018 
with the National Centre for Social 
Research to help us understand the 
travel patterns of disabled people in 
detail, and independent research with 
disabled people with Britain Thinks 
to help us understand the problems 
and difficulties that disabled people 
experience when travelling. 
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‘ It is easier to travel 
from one place to 
another. Financially, 
it has also helped.’ 

 Shadrach
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Six in 10 adults with a disability hold a full driving licence 

55% of disabled adults never use trains or use them less than 
once a year, compared to 3% of people without disabilities 

Disabled people are less likely  
to have access to a car 
We found that not only are disabled 
people less likely to drive, but they  
are also less likely to have a car in  
their household. Six in 10 adults with  
a disability hold a full driving licence.  
Yet almost a quarter of adults with  
a disability live in a household with  
no car and cannot drive, compared  
to only 10% of adults without 
a disability.  

However, that doesn’t mean that 
disabled people make greater use  
of public transport 
We found that disabled people use 
buses, coaches and trains less than 
people without disabilities. 55% of 
disabled adults never use trains or use 
them less than once a year, compared 
to 3% of people without disabilities. 

“I never use transport during busy 
times. It’s difficult to get on and  
people are reluctant to move out  
of allocated spaces.” 

Having a harder time using transport 
means missing out and having a 
lower quality of life 
We found that people with disabilities 
are much more likely to struggle 
to meet family and friends at their 
homes, carry a heavy planning burden, 
and are less able to make spontaneous 
journeys.   

“I just have to either not go out or  
wait until I have someone with me.” 

Aims for 2020/21 
•  In dialogue with disabled people 

and disabled people’s organisations, 
our Board will use existing and new 
insight and evidence to identify the 
best new opportunities for Motability 
to improve mobility for disabled 
people in the future 

• We are conducting research to 
identify what is needed to ensure 
that electric vehicle charging ports 
are accessible for disabled people, 
as we know this will be a concern for 
Scheme customers and other drivers, 
both current and future 

  

•  We will also establish a new impact 
and evaluation framework so that 
we can understand more clearly 
over time what makes the most 
difference to the mobility of disabled 
people, and ensure that we are using 
our resources effectively
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Disability Charity 
Our People 
As at 31 March 2020, the average 
number of Motability employees 
totalled 154 (114 as at 31 March 
2019). Staff numbers grew by 35% in 
the year, largely in our case manager 
numbers in line with the increase  
in the value of our grant-making. 
Initial training of staff takes around 
six months and full training and 
competence in these complex roles 
takes around 18 months. Motability 
does not engage volunteers owing 
to the stressful and complex nature 
of the work our case managers 
undertake. 

Investors in People Award 
Motability is proud to be accredited  
at Gold standard with Investors in 
People. We commit to: 

–  Leading and inspiring people 
–  Living our Values 
–  Empowering and involving people 
–  Managing performance 
–  Recognising and rewarding  

high performance 
–  Structuring work 
–  Building capability 
–  Delivering continuous improvement 
–  Creating sustainable success 
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Employee Engagement 
Our annual staff survey results 
remained consistent this year and, in 
most areas, once again outperformed 
our benchmark provided by Charity 
Pulse. In our most recent staff survey, 
Motability employees said that they 
understand the role they play in 
enabling the organisation to help 
disabled people, and that we do so 
with empathy, fairness and respect. 
Employees also support our Values  
and feel that they work in a safe  
and healthy environment. 

Equality and Diversity 
Motability continues to pursue  
a policy of equality and diversity.  
In particular, our policy is to ensure  
that disabled people receive equal 
and fair consideration in recruitment, 
training and career development. 
Support and adjustments are 
provided to ensure that the needs of 
employees with disabilities are met. 

We are members of the Business 
Disability Forum and are accredited 
by the DWP as a Disability Confident 
Employer. 

Motability 
is proud to 

be accredited  
at Gold 

standard with 
Investors in 

People. 
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Manav Sharma 
Service Desk Analyst Apprentice 
Manav is an apprentice within 
Motability’s IT department. His 
day-to-day responsibilities include 
supporting staff with any technical  
or software issues. During the 
COVID-19 pandemic he has been 
supporting IT projects to allow staff 
to be able to easily work from home. 

How did Manav join Motability? 
Manav attended college to study  
an IT course three days a week. 

After a formal interview, Manav was 
successful in securing a placement 

within Motability’s IT department. 
His contract was initially for 20 
weeks and this was extended to 40 
weeks. During the summer holidays 
he continued to work for Motability, 
supporting IT, and this led to an 
apprenticeship at Motability whilst 
still attending college one day a 
week to complete his course. 

“I feel incredibly lucky as I love 
working for Motability, seeing friendly 
faces and helping people,” says 
Manav. “If you ask my team, they 
will tell you that my IT knowledge 

and my confidence have really 
grown. I used to be shy but now  
I can easily talk to staff while fixing 
their equipment. This came with time 
and by learning from my colleagues. 

“I am happy here. I get involved in 
so much and I have become a real 
jack-of-all trades! 

“I prefer learning on the job as this 
has allowed me to work and learn 
within an office environment. I think 
many people leaving university  
are lacking this valuable life skill.”
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This year, we also held a number 
of workshops including disability 
confidence, mental health awareness 
for employees, and managing mental 
wellbeing for managers. 

Reward 
Our remuneration policies are 
regularly reviewed against comparable 
benchmarks to ensure they are fair 
and relevant to the environment 
in which we operate. Motability is 
committed to promoting Equal Pay. 

All salaries exceed the requirement 
of the National Living Wage. We 
actively encourage our employees to 
engage with us on benefits, including 
our pension scheme, salary sacrifice 
scheme, pension workshops and online 
retirement planning tools. 

Remuneration is reviewed for all 
employees, including the Chief 
Executive and Directors, using 
established job evaluation models and 
median salary data from comparable 
benchmarks, including other charities, 
to ensure that it is competitive, able to 
attract talent and encourage retention. 

Motability does not operate a bonus 
scheme for any staff. 

Motability offers a Pension Salary 
Exchange, Life Assurance, Bupa Private 

Medical Insurance, and employee 
assistance through Bupa Healthy 
Minds. Motability also encourages 
everyone to work towards improving 
their own health and wellbeing. We 
have a Wellbeing Champions Group 
that meets regularly to discuss 
wellbeing initiatives for employees. 

Next year, we will be undertaking 
a Gender Pay Review as we did in 
2018/19. 

Pension 
Motability provides a Stakeholder 
Pension Plan, which is non-contributory 
for all employees. Motability makes 
contributions equivalent to 10% of 
base salary, and offers a facility to 
match employee contributions up  
to a further 5% via salary sacrifice. 

Our Pension Management Committee 
meets twice a year to ensure our 
pension arrangements continue to 
meet the needs and interests of its 
members. 

Control and Assurance 
Motability has a comprehensive 
system of internal controls, policies 
and reporting overseen by the Audit 
and Risk Committee (ARC). During the 
year, ARC’s work included reviewing: 
Motability’s reserves level and 
scenarios for income and expenditure; 

the treasury policy; delegated financial 
authorities; the whistle-blowing 
policy; Motability’s compliance 
with FCA requirements; the estates 
requirement; and: the budget and 
business plan along with re-forecasts. 
The Investment Committee oversees 
investment policy and performance. 

ARC oversees the annual external audit 
and sets the priorities for and receives 
the reports of Motability’s internal 
audits. The 2019/20 internal audit 
plan addressed financial, operational 
and compliance areas including: 
VAT; facilities services and value for 
money; reimbursed business expenses; 
procurement; grant spending including 
its cost effectiveness; and compliance 
with DWP security criteria and GDPR 
requirements. 

Motability reviews the risks it faces 
and the steps needed to mitigate 
risk regularly. A major focus of ARC’s 
work in the first half of 2020 was 
reviewing management’s proposals for 
addressing the COVID-19 pandemic.  
A new risk recognised this year is 
Motability’s exposure to changing 
public attitudes and regulation on 
environmental matters. Motability 
maintains a risk register and a 
summary of key risks faced by the 
Charity is set out on the following 
pages.  
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The principal risks for Motability are: 
RISKS FACTORS MITIGATION 

Strategic Risk 
Our strategy is ambitious yet we don’t 
maximise our impact on mobility for 
the disabled due to the expansion of 
donation initiatives, grant offerings and 
awareness raising occurring faster than 
we can support. 

We don’t keep up with and 
understand the changing 
requirements of disabled people. 

Too many initiatives are undertaken 
and we are unable to implement in 
full or successfully. 

Under-delivery of a mobility solution 
against expectations of disabled 
people. 

Research and innovation projects  
have been established to consider 
other growth routes. 

A planned approach to implementation 
is being undertaken to ensure the 
necessary resource is in place. 

Regularly review and evaluate plans 
to ensure they meet beneficiary needs 
including behavioural changes due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

External Influences Risk 
We don’t maintain the confidence 
of stakeholders that the Charity and 
the Scheme is the best way to deliver 
mobility for disabled people. 

We don’t deliver the required  
service to beneficiaries. 

The UK and Scottish Governments 
are unable to work with us to 
redirect the mobility component  
of qualifying disability benefits. 

Unable to work with the right 
organisations across the industry  
to deliver mobility solutions. 

Monitor the changing needs of 
beneficiaries through research  
and innovation projects. 

Motability is accredited by the Scottish 
Government. Future Scotland Act Order 
frames the needed relationship.  

Effective PR monitoring and 
communication strategy, liaising  
with disability organisations and  
other stakeholders. 

Environment Risk 
We don’t keep in step with the  
UK position on the environment. 

The Motability operation and 
Motability transport solutions should 
seek to be aligned to Government 
carbon emission targets. 

Develop our Environment Agenda in 
concert with Motability Operations. 

Financial Risk 
Our investment strategy doesn’t 
deliver sufficient income to support 
and sustain our current and future 
ambitions. 

Future donations from Motability 
Operations are volatile and 
unknown. 

The Motability Foundation fails to 
deliver the required levels of return. 

We don’t manage short-term 
liquidity requirements. 

Work with Motability Operations to 
understand the financial impact of 
COVID-19. 

Monitor the fund managers’ progress  
with investment levels and performance. 

Continue to monitor cash flow positions 
and forecasts of grant spending.
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RISKS FACTORS MITIGATION

Operational Risk 
We are unable, in the current climate 
(COVID-19 pandemic), to deliver our 
grant services to Scheme customers. 

Motability’s data or systems suffer a 
malicious attack or other disruption  
to business continuity. 

The adaptation and converter 
industry cannot cope with the 
volume of demand (or lack of it). 

Beneficiaries express concerns  
over grant-making. 

The Scheme fails to run effectively 
and efficiently. 

Loss of data or service availability 
due to cyber-attack. 

Collaborate across the industry to 
understand demands and manage 
solutions where possible. 

Regularly review beneficiary feedback, 
and update operational and 
communications plans as appropriate. 

Business continuity plans reviewed  
to support use of off-site resource. 

Robust and strengthened control 
environment including Information 
Security framework. 

Reputational Risk 
The Scheme does not evolve, we  
do not communicate our strategy  
and come under pressure when we  
are not seen to be using the donations 
for public good. 

New grant programmes are  
not reviewed and considered. 

The strategy is changed but the 
communication of the change  
is misunderstood. 

Oversight of the Scheme is  
brought into question. 

Continue to assess and review  
new grant programmes on the  
basis of increased research. 

Effective communications strategy 
delivering consistent messages to  
all stakeholders. 

Focused oversight of the Motability 
Scheme and the risk management 
conducted by Motability Operations. 

Compliance Risk 
Compliance with the Charity 
Commission requirements and  
ever- increasing ethical, legal  
and regulatory obligations, for  
example General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR). 

Fines and penalties as a result 
of non-compliance could lead to 
restrictions in our ability to carry  
out our charitable objectives. 

A thorough compliance programme  
is in place which is reviewed quarterly 
by management. 

Data Protection and Data Security are 
the foundations for considering and 
developing new working practices. 

A well-established annual routine 
training programme is in place.
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Risk Management 
An established risk management 
framework is in place to support 
informed decision making and create  
a consistent approach to assessing 
risks that affect our ability to achieve 
our objectives. 

The robust risk management framework 
allows us to focus on those risks which 
could adversely impact our plans or 
our reputation. 

Effective risk management is central 
to successfully delivering our strategy 
and ensuring the sustainability of that 
strategy for the future. The framework 
is designed to: 

–  Identify the significant risks faced 
–  Enable informed decision making 

regarding risks that affect the  
ability to meet our objectives 

–  Provide a consistent approach 
considering risks to ensure they  
do not exceed acceptable limits 

–  Manage, where we cannot eliminate, 
risks to our strategy 

Motability is a financially secure charity 
with strong ambition. However, at the 
end of the financial year, the COVID-19 
pandemic meant we were unable 
to conduct our business as usual. 

Continuity plans swung into action  
on 23 March 2020 and we resumed all 
activities at Harlow on 15 June 2020. 
Our working practices will be reviewed 
fully to ensure we capture all the 
lessons to be learned. 
 
The Motability Internal Governance 
and Risk Assurance Committee 
(MIGRAC), consisting of senior 
management across the Charity, 
manages and reviews the Risk 
Register on a quarterly basis, ensuring 
risks are always current. The review 
provides assurance to the Audit and 
Risk Committee that appropriate 
arrangements are in place to: 
–  ensure the effective management  

of the risks 
–  recommend changes to policies, 

processes or action which may be 
required, for example, introducing  
the Environment Risk 

Each risk is measured in terms of  
its gross and net risk value, with 
the difference being the controls or 
mitigating factors implemented to 
manage the risk exposure. Each risk 
has an assigned owner to ensure clear 
accountability and ownership exists. 
The updates provided to the Board 
of Governors, the Audit and Risk 
Committee, and the Executive Team 

ensure that Senior Managers are also 
considering the risks on an ongoing 
basis, evaluating the mitigations and 
controls, and identifying any new 
risks that the organisation faces. The 
Audit and Risk Committee monitors 
the resulting risk profile and reports 
its finding to the Board of Governors. 
Motability’s key risks are summarised 
on pages 56 and 57. 

Operating Aims for 2020/21 
•  Implement software to assist 

Charitable Operations plan and 
manage resources 

•  Establish the right office space  
for the future 

•  Draw up a human resource plan to 
support the ambitions of Motability 

•  Further develop the Motability 
Foundation 

•  Implement a robust income 
forecasting model 

•  Implement a change management 
programme 

•  Implement business critical software 
upgrades 

•  Reassess the business continuity plan 
and longer term working practices  
in light of the COVID-19 pandemic 
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Financial Review 
and Results 

Motability’s results for the year 
2019/20 are presented in the 
consolidated Statement of Financial 
Activities (SoFA) on page 76. 

Income totalled £1,055 million  
(2019: £429 million). There were two 
main reasons for this exceptional  
level of income. Firstly, Motability 
received donations totalling £852 
million (2019: £400 million) from 
Motability Operations in the year  
as a result of historically high second-
hand car prices. These donations  
were comprised of the £800 million 
noted in last year’s Annual Report as 
a post- balance event and a further 
£52.3 million as high second-hand 
car prices extended into the middle 
of 2019. Second-hand car prices 
subsequently fell back to more  
normal levels. 

Secondly, Motability’s sister charity, 
Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust 
(MTAT), which was set up to support 
Motability’s work, donated its funds  
at 31 March 2020 of £201 million. 
In view of this, MTAT agreed to reverse 
previously agreed restricted donation 
commitments of £5.8 million (2019: 
restricted donation commitments  
of £10.3 million) resulting in net  
MTAT donations for the year of  
£195.5 million (2019: £15.4 million). 

The substantial Motability Operations’ 
donations and MTAT’s net assets 
donation, totalling £1,054 million,  
were made in the form of an 
expendable endowment to recognise 
their one-off nature.  
 
The funds are invested to provide  
a return to support Motability’s 
activities and the capital of the 
endowment will only be drawn  
down in exceptional circumstances. 

Income from investments was  
£6.0 million (2019: £3.3 million)  
as the scale of funds under investment 
grew. Motability does not solicit 
donations. We gratefully receive 
a small volume of spontaneous 
donations year to year, shown as 
voluntary fundraising income. Other 
Trading Activities income arises  
from our affinity partnerships that  
are reviewed regularly to ensure  
the product fills a gap in provision  
for disabled people at a fair cost. 

The cost of raising funds grew to  
£1.4 million (2019: £0.4 million) 
principally due to the increased  
costs of fund management for  
the larger investment holdings. 

Charitable expenditure totalled  
£73.5 million, up from £36.9 million 

last year. Within this, net new 
grant commitments totalled £61.1 
million, up 125% from £27.2 million 
in 2018/19, as Motability expanded 
its grant programmes and made its 
first special grants to other charities 
to support the transport needs of 
young children with disabilities and 
their families. Owing to releases of 
the PIP provision, awarded grants 
funded by Motability expanded more 
slowly, by 35%, from £52.7 million to 
£71.0 million as detailed in Note 3 to 
the accounts and on page 43. Other 
direct charitable expenditure increased 
to £5.7 million from £4.2 million. To 
support the large overall increase in 
charitable expenditure, Motability’s 
total of support and governance costs 
increased by 21% from £5.5 million 
last year to £6.7 million in 2019/20. 

As a result, Motability recorded 
net income, after gains and losses 
on investments, of £936 million 
(2019: £391 million). This is made 
up of a surplus on the expendable 
endowment of £1,011 million and 
a deficit on general and restricted 
funds of £75.5 million (2019: surplus 
of £391 million). The deficit created 
by increased grants and associated 
running costs has been funded by the 
£400 million general funds donation 
received from Motability Operations in 
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2018/19 and from restricted funds on 
hand as appropriate. After an actuarial 
gain of £3.2 million (2019: loss of £1.7 
million) on the pension fund, Motability 
recorded a net gain in funds of £939 
million (2019: £389 million). 

During the year, Motability received 
funds invested for the long term 
(principally equities) from MTAT and 
also invested liquid funds in equities. 
At 31 March 2020, this equity-based 
part of the overall portfolio amounted 
to a total of £451 million of the 
£1,054 million donated endowment. 
The COVID-19 pandemic led to falls 
in investment markets that created 
unrealised (non-cash) net investment 
losses of £44.2 million at 31 March 
2020 (2019: loss £0.3 million) and 
endowment funds were £1,011 million 
at that date (2019: £nil). General  
and restricted funds declined from  
£446 million and £52.1 million 
respectively at the start of the year 
as a result of increased charitable 
spending to £385 million and  
£41.2 million respectively at 31 March 
2020. As a result of the above factors, 
total funds increased from £498 million 
last year by £939 million to £1,437 
million at 31 March 2020.  

Motability started the year with  
£118 million of cash and cash 
equivalents and ended it with £235 
million. The COVID-19 pandemic had 
a marked effect on financial markets 
in March 2020 and the Charity’s cash 
holdings were increased in March to 
secure future grants and running costs 
in 2020/21. The year was dominated 
by the cash donations of £852 million 
from Motability Operations and their 

placement, along with current asset 
investments, of a total of £1,240 
million in long-term investments.   
MTAT’s £201 million donation was 
in the form of long-term investment 
portfolios.   

Motability has a defined benefit 
pension scheme that shut to new 
members in 2005 and closed in July 
2012 to future accruals. At 31 March 
2020 the funds were valued in the 
accounts under FRS 102 assumptions 
at £23.2 million (£21.7 million at 31 
March 2019) and the liabilities at £23.2 
million (£25.4 million), leading to a 
zero balance (2019: deficit of £3.7 
million). The last actuarial valuation 
was carried out at 31 March 2019. It 
showed that the assets of the scheme 
were £21.8 million and the liabilities 
were £23.0 million, resulting in a 
deficit of £1.2 million. During the year 
a payment of £0.7 million was made 
to reduce the deficit, and a further 
payment of £0.6 million will be made 
in 2020/21 to eliminate the 31 March 
2019 actuarial valuation deficit. 

Looking ahead to the financial year 
2020/21, COVID-19 has meant that 
many car dealerships, that would 
provide the new cars, have shut  
and our ability to assess grants and 
make personalised recommendations 
with in-person visits has been 
curtailed.  This means grant-making 
is deferred rather than cancelled. 
Subject to how COVID-19 and its 
related impacts develop, our intention 
is to maintain grant-funding at similar 
levels in 2020/21 to those achieved  
in 2019/20. 

Motability will invest in its people, 
systems and processes to enhance 
future efficiency and capacity, and 
this may lead to higher support and 
governance costs in the short term. 
In what may be volatile markets, 
Motability will seek to deploy more 
of its investments into holdings more 
suited to the long-term perspective of 
the endowment in order to improve 
investment returns in the years ahead. 

In summary, 2019/20 has been a year 
of significant financial contrasts. The 
endowment donations from Motability 
Operations and MTAT provide welcome 
financial security for Motability’s 
existing work, building on the major 
general funds donation from Motability 
Operations in 2018/19. However, the 
COVID-19 pandemic has potentially 
significantly increased the risks to 
Motability’s income prospects over the 
next five years. The Governors will keep 
the financial strategy under regular 
review over the coming year to secure 
Motability’s beneficiaries’ interests and 
the Charity’s sustainability. 

Investment Policy  
and Performance 
This is the first year Motability has had 
an endowment which is held by the 
Motability Endowment Trust, known  
as the Foundation, Registered Charity 
No. 299745-1. Following a review 
of good practice and its charitable 
objects, Motability has adopted  
a responsible investment policy  
which will be periodically reviewed. 

The investment goal for the 
endowment is to maintain its long- 
term value in real terms with an 
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investment return target of RPI+4% 
p.a. net of costs so as to support the 
real value of future grant-making.  
During the year, the endowment 
delivered an unrealised investment 
loss of £44.3 million (2019: £nil),  
a fall of 4.2%. This arose principally  
on the global equity index tracker  
fund which fell by 18% in line with  
the MSCI Developed World index. 
Taking account of income earned  
by the endowment in the year, the 
total return on the endowment was  
a fall of 4.0%. 

The investment goal for restricted 
and general funds is to maintain the 
nominal value of the assets whilst 
earning an income equivalent to  
or slightly better than the return on 
cash pending their use to fund grant 
programmes. A small unrealised gain 
of £0.1 million (2019: £0.3 million)  
on the capital value of restricted  
and general fund bond holdings  
was recorded for the year.  

Financial Risk 
The principal financial risks that 
Motability faces derive from the 
endowment portfolio (equities, 
bonds and cash and current asset 
investments) and Motability’s 
general and restricted fund balances 
(bonds and cash and current asset 
investments). These risks are market 
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. They 
are set out below along with the 
measures taken to mitigate them. 

MARKET RISK: the risk that the prices 
of investments could fall or become 
more volatile. Motability manages 
this risk through a diversified asset 

allocation strategy of appropriate 
investments. For equities, Motability 
holds diversified portfolios, appointing 
both passive and active managers, and 
through appointing active managers 
with differing investment styles. No 
active fund manager holds more than 
25% of the long-term portfolio and 
Motability’s endowment represents 
no more than 15% of the funds of any 
one long-term portfolio manager. As a 
long-term investor, Motability accepts 
equity market volatility. For bonds, the 
risk is mitigated through diversification 
and by focusing on higher-rated 
investment grade holdings, typically 
A or AA rated. Interest rate risk is 
mitigated through holding a diverse 
range of short maturities with a 
willingness to hold to maturity.  
Foreign exchange rate risk is accepted 
by Motability as sterling assets are 
a majority of current investment 
holdings; this stance will be kept under 
review as the portfolio evolves. Whilst 
Motability holds other asset classes, 
these are a small minority of current 
holdings. Motability is evaluating 
further asset class diversification. 

CREDIT RISK: the risk that a 
counterparty will default on their 
obligations. For all asset classes, 
Motability mitigates this risk by 
diversifying its holdings and by using 
custodians. For bonds and money 
market funds, Motability monitors 
market conditions, duration and credit 
quality regularly with investment 
managers. No one bank or bond 
exposure normally constitutes more 
than 10% of cash and short-term 
investments. For cash including 
deposits, Motability currently limits the 

duration of deposits to a maximum 
of three months and ensures those 
deposits sit within the ring-fenced 
entities of a UK bank.  

LIQUIDITY RISK: the risk that an asset 
cannot be sold for the expected price 
or due to the absence of willing buyers 
in the market (a market liquidity 
squeeze); that obligations cannot be 
met because cash is not available (e.g. 
from a bank or money market fund) 
due to financial stress and/or a market 
liquidity squeeze; or because Motability 
has not managed its cash position 
appropriately. Motability mitigates 
liquidity risk through a diversified asset 
allocation strategy, a variety of asset 
managers, regular dialogue with its 
investment managers to understand 
potential risks, holding cash balances 
within the ring-fenced entities of UK 
regulated banks, and regular cash flow 
forecasting exercises. In March 2020, 
Motability increased its immediately 
available cash holdings within the 
ring-fenced entities of Barclays Bank 
above forecast cash needs in response 
to a short-term liquidity squeeze in 
corporate bond markets. 

Reserves Policy 
Motability’s total funds are £1,437 
million (2019: £498 million). 
Motability’s principal reserve is the 
expendable endowment reserve of 
£1,011 million (2019: £nil) which 
represents the net assets of the 
Foundation. The objective, as noted 
under the investment policy, is to 
maintain the endowment’s real value 
over the long term to support the  
real value of future grant-making. 
Restricted funds are held for the 
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purpose for which they were received.  
The objective, as noted under the 
investment policy, is to preserve the 
value of these funds, whilst earning a 
return modestly higher than on cash 
until such time as these funds are spent 
on their restricted purposes. The value 
of restricted funds was £41.2 million at 
31 March 2020 (2019: £52.1 million). 

Two restricted funds, the Specialised 
Vehicle Grants for Disabled People Fund 
and the Administration and Support 
Fund, were previously funded by the 
Trust and the Lease Levy respectively. 
During the year, the Trust suspended 
grants pending the transfer of its net 
assets to the Motability Endowment 
Trust and the Lease Levy has ended. 
The balances on these two funds were 
spent. Future spending for these funds’ 
purposes will be met by the general 
fund. 

The PIP Transitional Support 
Programme (TSP) Fund was funded 
with donations of £175 million 
from Motability Operations. As the 
transition to PIP has occurred, these 
funds have been spent. Estimates 
of future spending to a point where 
the programme can be reviewed 
have been given in previous financial 
statements. At 31 March 2020 this 
estimate was reduced to £5.5 million 
as the transition programme has been 
delayed by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
As a result of grants made in the year, 
this fund decreased from £44.1 million 
at 31 March 2019 to £41.1 million  
at the year end. 

Within total general funds of 
£385 million (2019: £446 million), 

designated general funds are created 
to set aside monies from general funds 
to support a particular Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicle initiative: the 
Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund. 
Grant spending in the year reduced 
this fund to £18.4 million at the year 
end from the opening balance of £42.5 
million. The remaining funds are likely 
to be spent within the next two years. 

Undesignated general funds were 
£367 million at the year end (2019: 
£403 million) and are held primarily  
to bridge the inevitable gaps and 
changes in investment and donation 
income that occur from time to time, 
and so provide assurance that long-
term commitments to support the 
mobility needs of disabled people  
can be met, as well as to meet 
unexpected expenditures. As noted 
elsewhere in this report, the COVID-19 
pandemic is likely to weaken the 
Charity’s income prospects, and the 
current level of general fund reserves 
may need to support several years’ 
activity. 

The Governors believe that the 
current level of financial support 
to beneficiaries is sustainable in 
the medium term only because of 
the current level of general funds.  
Accordingly, they conclude that the 
current level of general reserves, which 
is planned to diminish significantly, is 
appropriate. The Governors will keep 
the appropriate level of unrestricted 
general fund reserves within the 
reserves policy under regular review. 

Going Concern 
Motability has reviewed its future 
spending plans in five-year and ten-
year scenarios to allow for differing 
levels of future donations from 
Motability Operations and income 
generated by the Foundation’s 
endowment, and differing spend 
rates from the £385 million of general 
funds and £41.1 million of restricted 
funds on hand (these sums include 
£235 million in cash). Motability 
will seek to maintain core spending 
on beneficiaries and will curtail 
discretionary grant programmes 
where necessary to achieve this end. 
Motability’s future financial plans, 
budgets, reserves levels and cash flow 
forecasts for a period of more than  
12 months from the date of signature 
of the accounts have been prepared  
by management and reviewed by  
the Governors. On this basis, the 
Governors believe that the going 
concern assumption continues to  
be appropriate and that Motability  
has a sound financial basis upon  
which to plan for the future. 

Auditor  
A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte LLP 
will be proposed at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.
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Governors’ Report 
(Trustees’ Report) 

The Accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Charities  
Act 2011, the Royal Charter and  
the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP) 2019. 

The Chief Patron, Patrons, Life Vice-
Presidents, present Governors, any  
past Governors, and Members who 
served during the year are shown on 
the inside front cover of this report. 

Details of the registered office, key 
executive employees and professional 
advisors are shown on page 111. 

Structure, Governance  
and Management 
The Charity is governed by its Royal 
Charter, granted on 18 May 1988. 
As part of its Governance Review the 
Charity has taken professional advice 
to update its Royal Charter and Bye-
laws to adopt current best practices. 
Updated documents are currently  
with the Privy Council for approval. 

Under Motability’s Royal Charter, 
Governors are appointed from the 
Membership. Any individual can  
apply to the Board for election as a 
Member (subject to not being a paid 
employee of Motability). When a 
vacancy arises for a Governor, or if the 
Board considers the need to appoint 

someone with specialist knowledge, 
the Board will review the current 
Membership for candidates. 

If no current Member possesses the 
necessary skill or experience, the Board 
would seek to recruit a new Member, 
whose appointment as a Governor 
would be put to the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). One third of the 
Governors must retire each year and 
may offer themselves for re-election  
to a maximum of three terms. 

Governors meet at least five times 
per year. These meetings include 
four quarterly Board meetings 
and the AGM. The Board delegates 
responsibility for the implementation 
of policy and reviews of performance 
to a number of Committees, as set out 
below. The Committees are required 
to meet prior to Board meetings 
and formally report to them, so that 
recommendations for changes in 
strategy or policy can be authorised  
by the full Board. 

New Governors undergo an induction 
on the role of Motability and their 
duties as a Board Member. They are 
provided with an information folder 
that contains the Royal Charter, current 
Business Plan, recent financial reports, 
and the Charity Commission Trustee 

Welcome document. Throughout the 
year, Board Members receive updates 
on information relevant to their role 
and are supported with their training 
needs as appropriate. 

The Governors are not remunerated. 
Their expenses in carrying out their 
duties are reimbursed and these are 
detailed in Note 6 to the Accounts. 

Related parties are identified when 
new transactions arise and are set  
out in Note 6 to the Accounts. 

The Charity has one wholly owned 
subsidiary, Motability Enterprises 
Limited, about which further details 
are given in Note 2 in the Financial 
Statements. 

The Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust 
(MTAT) is a separate independent 
charity that was set up to provide 
long-term support to Motability. 
MTAT shares two of its four Trustees 
with Motability. The shared Trustees 
excused themselves from decisions 
involving Motability. MTAT closed 31 
March 2020 when it donated its net 
assets to the Motability Foundation. 
Motability and MTAT received legal 
advice from Farrer & Co in the year. 
Different partners and staff at Farrer  
& Co were assigned to each charity. 
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Scheme Oversight 
Committee 
The purpose of the Scheme Oversight 
Committee (SOC) is primarily to ensure 
effective oversight by Motability of the 
performance and financial position of 
the Motability Scheme and to report 
to the Board of Governors on a regular 
basis. 

The SOC comprises four Governors who 
have appropriate skills and experience 
in relation to the oversight of the 
Motability Scheme. The Committee 
meets quarterly and is supported by 
senior management of both Motability 
and Motability Operations. 

The Committee was chaired during  
the year by Sir Gerald Acher, who 
stepped down in June 2019, and  
is now chaired by Ed Humpherson.  
The other Governors serving in  
the Committee are David Hunter,  
Dr Stephen Duckworth OBE and 
Professor Mala Rao OBE. 

Grant-Making Committee 
The Committee reviews Motability’s 
grants policies and oversees 
the administration of Charitable 
Operations to ensure that it delivers 
value for money and a high level  
of customer service to meet the  
needs of beneficiaries. The Grant-
Making Committee comprises three 
Governors and was chaired during 
the year by the late Professor Adrian 
V Stokes. It is currently being chaired 
by Charles Manby. Other Governors 
serving the Committee are Lord Kevin 
Shinkwin, Cheryl Ward and Dr Juliana 
Onwumere. 

Audit and Risk Committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 
is responsible for the oversight of 
Risk Assessment, Risk Management 
and Internal Control. The Committee 
is also charged with reviewing the 
performance of both internal and 
external audit, and for making 
recommendations to the Board  
in respect of the appointment of 
external and internal auditors. 

The ARC comprises three Governors. 
The Committee was chaired during  
the year by the Honorary Treasurer, 
David Hunter. The other Governors 
serving in the Committee are  
Dr Stephen Duckworth OBE and 
Professor William Webb. 

Investment Committee 
Following the receipt of the Motability 
Operations Endowment donation in 
September 2019, a joint investment 
working group was established 
between Motability and Motability 
Tenth Anniversary Trust. This became 
the Motability and Motability 
Foundation Joint Investment 
Committee. The Investment 
Committee appoints, monitors and 
can remove investment managers 
in pursuit of the investment strategy 
contained within the investment 
policy. 

The Committee is chaired by Charles 
Manby, and the other Governor serving 
on the Committee is David Hunter. The 
Committee has two other independent 
external members, David Pritchard and 
Peter Oppenheimer (appointed 7 July 
2020). 

Remuneration Committee 
The primary purpose of the 
Remuneration Committee is to 
review the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive, Directors, and key executive 
employees, as well as the employee 
pay and benefits strategy. 

The Remuneration Committee 
comprises two Governors and is 
currently chaired by the Chairman, 
Charles Manby, supported by Cheryl 
Ward. 

Nomination Committee 
The Committee identifies and 
recommends the appointment of  
new Governors evaluating the balance 
of skills, knowledge and diversity  
on the Board, and considers all 
candidates based on merit and against 
objective criteria. The Committee  
also recommends the appointment  
of the Chief Executive and Directors  
to the Board of Governors. 

The Nomination Committee comprises 
four Governors and is chaired by 
the Chairman of Motability, Charles 
Manby. The other Governors serving  
in the Committee are Ed Humpherson, 
Professor Mala Rao, and Lord Kevin 
Shinkwin. 
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The Chief Executive Officer 
The Chief Executive is responsible for 
the day-to-day management of the 
Charity’s affairs and the relationships 
with stakeholders, including the DWP 
and Motability Operations. 

The Chief Executive is supported by  
a senior management team to ensure 
the implementation of policies agreed 
by the Governors. 

The current Chief Executive Officer  
is Barry Le Grys MBE. 

Governance Review 
There were 44 recommendations 
made by Farrer & Co in connection with 
the review of the Charity’s governance 
undertaken in 2018. All have now been 
implemented except for two. Firstly, 
all the recommended changes to our 
Royal Charter and Bye-laws have been 
drafted and submitted to the Privy 
Council for approval along with a set of 
draft Regulations. The Governors await 
the completion of the Privy Council 
process. Secondly, the updating of the 
Scheme Agreement with Motability 
Operations which is work in progress 
and explained on page 31. 

Governance is reviewed annually and 
measured against the principles of the 
Charity Governance Code. Another more 
strategic review is planned for 2021.   

Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities and 
Corporate Governance  
The Governors, as Trustees, are 
responsible for preparing the 
Governors’ Report and the Financial 
Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice), including FRS 102, 
the reporting standard applicable in 
the UK and the Republic of Ireland. 

The law applicable to charities in 
England and Wales requires the 
Governors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year, 
which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Charity and 
the Group, and of the income and 
application of resources of the Charity 
for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements, the Governors 
are required to: 
–  Select suitable accounting policies 

and then apply them consistently 
–  Observe the methods and principles 

in the Charities SORP 
–  Make judgements and estimates  

that are reasonable and prudent 
–  State whether applicable accounting 

standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements 

–  Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Charity will continue in operation. 
The Governors are responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records 
that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial 
position of the Group and enable 
them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Charities 
Act 2011 and the Charity (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Group and Charity, 
and for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities 

The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in notes  
to the accounts and comply with the 
Charity’s governing document, the 
Charities Act 2011, and Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice, applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts  
in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in  
the UK and Republic of Ireland, 
updated in 2019. 

The Governors are responsible for  
the maintenance and integrity of 
the Charity and financial information 
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included on the Charity’s website, 
motability.org.uk. Legislation in  
the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. The 
systems of internal control follow 
Charity Commission Guidelines (CC8), 
designed to provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

They include: 
–  An annual budget approved  

by the Governors 
–  Regular consideration by the 

Governors of financial results, 
variations from budget, details  
of cash flow and bank balances 

–  Delegation of day-to-day 
management authority and 
segregation of duties 

–  Identification and management  
of risks 

–  An investment policy and regular 
reviews of investment risks and 
returns 

By Order of the Board 
The Lord Sterling of Plaistow 
GCVO CBE 
Charles Manby MBE 
Chairman 
14 August 2020
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Independent 
Auditor’s 
Report to the 
Governors  
(Trustees)  
of Motability
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Report on the Audit of 
the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion the financial statements 
of Motability (the ‘Charity’) and its 
subsidiaries (the ‘Group’): 

–  Give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group’s and the parent 
charity’s affairs as at 31 March 
2020 and of the Group’s incoming 
resources and application of 
resources for the year then ended 

–  Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in  
the UK and Republic of Ireland’; and 

–  Have been prepared in accordance 
with the Charities Act 2011 and  
the Royal Charter 

We have audited the financial 
statements which comprise: 
–  The Group and parent charity 

statement of financial activities 
–  The Group and parent charity  

balance sheets 
–  The Group cash flow statement 
–  The related Notes 1 to 20 

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102  
‘The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards  
on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are 
further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of  
the financial statements section  
of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and 
of the parent charity in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the 
Financial Reporting Council’s (the FRC’s) 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for  
our opinion. 

Conclusions Relating  
to Going Concern 
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report 
in respect of the following matters 
where: 
–  The Trustees’ use of the going 

concern basis of accounting 
in preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 
–  The Trustees have not disclosed 

in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the 
[Group’s and the parent] charity’s 
ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least 12 months 
from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

We have nothing to report in respect  
of these matters. 

Other Information 
The Trustees are responsible for 
the other information. The other 
information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other 
than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and,  
in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or 
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apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement 
in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work  
we have performed, we conclude  
that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in respect  
of these matters. 

Responsibilities of Trustees 
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ 
responsibilities statement, the Trustees 
are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, 
the Trustees are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and the parent 
charity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern  
and using the going concern basis  
of accounting unless the Trustees 
either intend to liquidate the Group 
or the parent charity or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements 
We have been appointed as auditor 
under section 151 of the Charities Act 
2011 and report in accordance with 

the Act and relevant regulations made 
or having effect thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis  
of these financial statements. 

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on 
the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org. 
uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our  
auditor’s report. 

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements 
Matters on which we  
are Required to Report  
by Exception 
Under the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 we are 
required to report in respect of the 
following matters if, in our opinion: 
–  The information given in the  

financial statements is inconsistent 
in any material respect with  
the Trustees’ report; or 

–  Sufficient accounting records have not 
been kept by the parent charity; or 

–  The parent charity financial 

statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records  
and returns; or 

–  We have not received all the 
information and explanations 
we require for our audit 

We have nothing to report in respect  
of these matters. 

Use of our Report 
This report is made solely to the 
Charity’s Trustees, as a body, in 
accordance with Part 4 of the 
Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Charity’s Trustees those 
matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept  
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Charity and the 
Charity’s Trustees as a body, for our 
audit work,for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London, United Kingdom 
14 August 2020 

Deloitte LLP is eligible for appointment 
as auditor for the Charity by virtue 
of its eligibility for appointment as 
auditor of a company under section 
1212 of the Companies Act 2006.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Activities 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 

Note 

Unrestricted 
Funds 
2020 
£’000 

Restricted 
Funds 
2020 
£’000 

Endowment 
Fund (1) 

2020 
£’000 

Total 
2020 
£’000 

Unrestricted 
Funds 
2019 
£’000 

Restricted 
Funds 
2019 
£’000 

Endowment 
Fund (1) 

2019 
£’000 

Total 
2019 
£’000

 Income and Endowments from:
 Voluntary Fundraising Income 65 2 - 67 97 15 - 112
 The Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust Donations 58 (5,768) 201,161 195,451 5,052 10,345 - 15,397
 Motability Operations Donations - - 852,345 852,345 400,000 - - 400,000
 Donations and Legacies 123 (5,766) 1,053,506 1,047,863 405,149 10,360 - 415,509
 Charitable Activities - 312 - 312 - 9,334 - 9,334
 Other Trading Activities 467 - - 467 540 - - 540
 Interest Receivable 481 59 117 657 432 92 - 524
 Investment Income 1,906 968 2,420 5,294 1,369 1,390 - 2,759
 Income from Investments 2,387 1,027 2,537 5,951 1,801 1,482 - 3,283
 Other Income - - - - - 8 - 8
 Total Income and Endowments 2,977 (4,427) 1,056,043 1,054,593 407,490 21,184 - 428,674

 Expenditure on: 
Raising Funds 4 629 81 694 1,404 280 123 - 403

 Charitable Expenditure 3 38,421 35,047 - 73,468 20,915 16,022 - 36,937
 Net Income Before Gains / (Losses) on Investments (36,073) (39,555) 1,055,349 979,721 386,295 5,039 - 391,334
 Net Gains / (Losses) on Investments 696 (562) (44,338) (44,204) 424 (725) - (301)
 Net Income (35,377) (40,117) 1,011,011 935,517 386,719 4,314 - 391,033

 Other Realised Gains and Losses:
 Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Defined 
 Benefit Pension Scheme 18 (216) 3,460 - 3,244 - (1,662) - (1,662)
 Other Realised Gains and Losses (216) 3,460 - 3,244 - (1,662) - (1,662)
 Transfer Between Funds (25,665) 25,665 - - (1,891) 1,891 - -
 Net Movement in Funds (61,258) (10,992) 1,011,011 938,761 384,828 4,543 - 389,371

 Reconciliation of Funds: 
 Fund Balances Brought Forward 1 April 446,250 52,146 - 498,396 61,422 47,603 - 109,025
 Fund Balances Carried Forward 31 March 15-17 384,992 41,154 1,011,011 1,437,157 446,250 52,146 - 498,396 

There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net income for the year. 
The Notes on pages 80 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
All the Group’s financial activities in this and the prior year were continuing. 

(1)  The Endowment column represents the financial activities of the Motability Endowment Trust (“The Foundation”). 
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Statement of Financial Activities 
(Charity Only) 
 for the year ended 31 March 2020 

Note 

Unrestricted 
Funds 
2020 
£’000 

Restricted 
Funds 
2020 
£’000 

Endowment 
Fund (1) 

2020 
£’000 

Total 
2020 
£’000 

Unrestricted 
Funds 
2019 
£’000 

Restricted 
Funds 
2019 
£’000 

Endowment 
Fund (1) 

2019 
£’000 

Total 
2019 
£’000

 Income and Endowments from:
 Voluntary Fundraising Income 399 2 - 401 488 15 - 503
 The Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust Donations 58 (5,768) 201,161 195,451 5,052 10,345 - 15,397
 Motability Operations Donations - - 852,345 852,345 400,000 - - 400,000
 Donations and Legacies 457 (5,766) 1,053,506 1,048,197 405,540 10,360 - 415,900
 Charitable Activities - 312 - 312 - 9,334 - 9,334
 Other Trading Activities - - - - - - - -
 Interest Receivable 479 59 117 655 430 92 - 522
 Investment Income 1,906 968 2,420 5,294 1,369 1,390 - 2,759
 Income from Investments 2,385 1,027 2,537 5,949 1,799 1,482 - 3,281
 Other Income - - - - - 8 - 8
 Total Income and Endowments 2,842 (4,427) 1,056,043 1,054,458 407,339 21,184 - 428,523 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 Expenditure on: 
Raising Funds 494 81 694 1,269 129 123 - 252 
 Charitable Expenditure 3 38,421 35,047 - 73,468 20,915 16,022 - 36,937
 Net Income Before Gains / (Losses) on Investments (36,073) (39,555) 1,055,349 979,721 386,295 5,039 - 391,334
 Net Gains / (Losses) on Investments 696 (562) (44,338) (44,204) 424 (725) - (301)
 Net Income (35,377) (40,117) 1,011,011 935,517 386,719 4,314 - 391,033

 

 
 

 Other Realised Gains and Losses:
 Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Defined  
 Benefit Pension Scheme 18 (216) 3,460 - 3,244 - (1,662) - (1,662)
 Other Realised Gains and Losses  (216) 3,460 - 3,244 - (1,662) - (1,662)
 Transfer Between Funds  (25,665) 25,665 - - (1,891) 1,891 - -
 Net Movement in Funds  (61,258) (10,992) 1,011,011 938,761 384,828 4,543 - 389,371

 Reconciliation of Funds:
 Fund Balances Brought Forward 1 April   446,235 52,146 - 498,381 61,407 47,603 - 109,010
 Fund Balances Carried Forward 31 March 15-17 384,977 41,154 1,011,011 1,437,142 446,235 52,146 - 498,381 

 

         
 

   
      

There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net income for the year. 
The Notes on pages 80 to 109 f orm an integral part of the financial statements. 
All the financial activities in this and the prior period were continuing. 

(1) The Endowment column represents the financial activities of the Motability Endowment Trust (“The Foundation”). 
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Balance Sheet 
(Group and Charity)
 as at 31 March 2020 

Note 

Group 
2020 
£’000 

Group 
2019 
£’000 

Charity 
2020 
£’000 

Charity 
2019 
£’000

   Tangible Fixed Assets    8 2,728 2,370 2,728 2,370
    Fixed Asset Investments   10 1,240,409 - 1,240,409 -

 Non Current Assets 1,243,137 2,370 1,243,137 2,370 

 Current Assets: 
 Debtors 9 4,404 15,703 4,681 16,077

      Current Asset Investments 10 - 407,336 - 407,336
      Short-Term Deposits  - 1,000 - 1,000
      Cash  235,343 118,102 235,037 117,691
 Net Current Assets Total  239,747 542,141 239,718 542,104
      Creditors: Amounts Falling Due within One Year 11 (39,614) (25,992) (39,600) (25,970)
 Total Assets less Current Liabilities  1,443,270 518,519 1,443,255 518,504
      Creditors: Amounts Falling Due after One Year 13 (69) (97) (69) (97)
      Provisions 12 (6,044) (16,326) (6,044) (16,326)
 Net Assets Excluding Pension Liability  1,437,157 502,096 1,437,142 502,081
      Pension Surplus / (Liability) 18 - (3,700) - (3,700)
 Total Net Assets  1,437,157 498,396 1,437,142 498,381

 Represented By:     
 Endowment Funds (1) 17 1,011,011 - 1,011,011 -
 Restricted Funds 15 41,154 52,146 41,154 52,146
 Unrestricted Funds 16 384,992 446,250 384,977 446,235
 Total Funds  1,437,157 498,396 1,437,142 498,381 
     
 

 

    

    

The Notes on pages 80 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
The financial statements on pages 76 to 109 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Governors on 14 August 2020  
and were signed on its behalf by: 

Lord Sterling GCVO CBE, Chairman 

Charles Manby MBE, Chairman 

David Hunter FCA, Hon. Treasurer 

(1)  The Endowment Funds balance refers to the Motability Endowment Trust (“The Foundation”). 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 

Note 
Group 2020 

£’000 
Group 2019 

£’000 

 Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) Operating Activities a (61,763) 366,262
 Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
      Interest Receivable 657 524
      Endowment Cash to Portfolio 10 (727,345) -
      Gross Investment Purchases 10 (802,358) -
        – (Increase) / Decrease in Current Asset Investments  407,336 (276,405)
        – Sale of Fixed Asset Investments  437,060 -
      Gross Investment Sales 10 844,396 -
      Investment Income 9 2,239 2,759
      Purchase of Tangible Fixed Assets  (1,121) (364)
      Income from Sales of Fixed Assets  - 8
      Decrease in Short-Term Deposits  1,000 1,000
 Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) Investing Activities  (682,532) (272,478)
 Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
      Receipt of Expendable Endowment  
      – Motability Operations Donations  852,345 -
      – MTAT Cash at Bank  2,469 -
      – MTAT Cash Held by Fund Managers  6,722 -
 Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) Financing Activities  861,536 -
      Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Year  117,241 93,784
      Cash and Cash Equivalent Brought Forward  118,102 24,318
 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period  235,343 118,102

  Analysis of Cash and Cash Equivalents: 2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

 Cash 235,343 118,102
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 235,343 118,102

 Current Asset Investments are money market funds normally with an average duration of three months or more. 
 The Notes on pages 80 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.

 a. Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities: Group 2020 
£’000 

Group 2019 
£’000

 
 

  
  

 
 Net Income for the Reporting Period (as per the Statement of Financial Activities) 
 Adjustments for: 

935,517 391,033
 

      Pension Adjustment (456) (1,001)
      Increase / (Decrease) in Authorised Grants Awaiting Payment 13,153 5,094
      Increase / (Decrease) in PIP Provision (10,282) (25,685)
      Depreciation 746 634

       Increase / (Decrease) in Creditors: Amounts Falling Due after One Year (28) -
      Investment Income (5,294) (2,759)
      Interest Income (657) (524)
      (Profit) / Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets 18 (8)
      Increase / (Decrease) in Debtors 14,353 (2,931)

       (Increase) / Decrease in Creditors: Amounts Falling Due within One Year 469 2,349
      Increase / (Decrease) in Dilapidations Provision - 60
        – Receipt of Donated Assets (201,161) -
        – Receipt of Expendable Endowment (852,345) -
      Receipt of Endowment Donations (1,053,506) -
      Adjustment for Gains and Losses on Investments 44,204 -
 Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) Operating Activities (61,763)  366,262 
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Notes to the  
Financial Statements 

1. Accounting Policies 

A. Corporate and Charitable Status 
Motability is a public benefit entity 
incorporated by Royal Charter 
and registered with the Charity 
Commission, Charity no. 299745,  
in England and Wales. 

B. Consolidation 
Group financial statements have  
been prepared in respect of Motability 
and its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Motability Enterprises Limited. 

Motability is the sole corporate trustee 
of the Motability Endowment Trust 
(the “Foundation”) which shares 
Motability’s registered charity number 
(with the suffix ‘-1’) and has the 
same charitable objects. The assets 
and liabilities of the Foundation have 
been included with those of the 
Charity on a line by line basis and 
included in the column ‘Endowment’ 
where appropriate. This fulfils the 
requirement to show the accounts  
of a linked charity as Motability’s only 
endowment assets, liabilities and 
activities are those of the Foundation. 

The principal activity of the Foundation 
during the year was receiving its  
first donations and placing them 
in a portfolio of investments for the 
long term. 

Motability Enterprises Limited (MEL)  
is incorporated in the United Kingdom 
and registered in England and Wales. 
MEL’s financial statements have  
been consolidated with those of the 
Charity on a line by line basis. The 
principal activity of MEL during the 
year was the raising of funds for the 
Charity by commission received from 
home and travel insurance partners. 

The net assets of the Motability Tenth 
Anniversary Trust were transferred 
to the Foundation on 31 March 
2020. Motability Tenth Anniversary 
Trust is a private company limited by 
guarantee, incorporated in England 
and Wales, company no. 2361981, 
and is registered with the Charity 
Commission, Charity no. 328160, 
in England and Wales. It is a public 
benefit entity which was set up  
to support the work of Motability. 

C. Basis of Accounting 
The accounts (financial statements) 
have been prepared to give a ‘true 
and fair’ view in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland effective from 1 January 2019 
and the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the United Kingdom  

and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
and the Charities Act 2011 and UK 
Generally Accepted Practice. 

Following the presentation of 
Motability’s activities using the 
strategic pillars framework in last 
year’s Annual Report, a single 
consolidated and a single charity 
Statement of Financial Activities 
(SoFA) format has been adopted with 
disclosures focused on the strategic 
pillars in order to present the Charity’s 
key activities more clearly. Further 
details of grant-making activities  
are set out in the Annual Report  
and in Note 3. 

Motability, as the parent charity, has 
taken the qualifying entity exemption 
under FRS 102 from preparing its own 
Cash Flow Statement. 

The most significant areas of judgement 
in applying these accounting policies to 
the financial statements are deemed 
to be in relation to the valuation of 
investments and the calculation of 
the Personal Independence Payments 
Transitional Support Programme future 
grant commitments (the PIP provision) 
as set out below in Note P. 

The financial statements have been 
prepared in pounds sterling, which is 
the functional currency of Motability 
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and its subsidiary. Monetary amounts 
in these financial statements are 
rounded to the nearest £’000.  

The Governors have considered 
forecasts and spending plans for 
the Charity and the impact on those 
of COVID-19 for a period of at least 
12 months from the signing of the 
accounts. More information is given in 
the Governors’ Report on page 66. As 
a result of their review, the Governors 
consider that the going concern 
assumption is an appropriate basis on 
which to prepare these statements. 

The endowment of the Foundation 
is expendable, although the current 
policy of the Trustee is, where 
possible, to invest the assets of the 
Foundation to retain the real value of 
the endowment while also generating 
sufficient return so as to enhance the 
stability and scale of grant-making and 
other charitable activities as may be 
determined from time to time by the 
Trustee. 

D. Income 
Income is accounted for when the 
Charity is entitled to the income, and 
when it is probable the income will 
be received and the amount can be 
measured reliably. 

– Donations and legacies are 
recognised when the Charity is 
entitled to the income, the amount 
can be quantified with reasonable 
certainty, and when it is probable  
the income will be received 

– Gift aid income is recognised on  
an accruals basis when the receipt 
and value are both certain 

– Interest is recognised when 
receivable and the amount can be 
measured reliably by the Charity. This 
is normally upon notification of the 
interest paid or payable by the bank 

– Dividends are recognised once the 
dividend has been declared and 
notification has been received of  
the dividend due 

– DWP grants receivable for grants 
to disabled people are accrued to 
match the expenditure 

– The lease levy was paid by Motability 
Operations to Motability at the 
inception of each lease to support 
Motability’s administration costs.  
The lease levy was discontinued  
on 31 March 2019 

E. Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there 
is a legal or constructive obligation 
to make a payment to a third party, 
it is probable that settlement will 
be required and the amount of the 
obligation can be measured reliably.  
Expenditure is classified under the 

following activity headings: 

– ‘Raising Funds’ comprises costs 
directly attributable to activities 
for raising funds such as the 
administration of affinity insurance 
products and the cost of investment 
management 

– ‘Charitable Expenditure’ includes 
direct charitable expenditure, grants, 
and directly attributable costs 
including central overheads such  
as relevant staff costs
 • ‘Grants to Individuals’ and ‘Grants 

to Institutions’ are recognised when 
they have been approved, to the 
extent that a legal or constructive 
obligation exists to provide the 
services agreed, except to the 
extent that they are subject to 
conditions that enable the Charity 
to revoke the award

 • Grant expenditure on ‘Driving lesson 
support’ is based upon the higher of 
the actual number of lessons taken 
during the year or the average 
number of lessons which customers 
take to complete their instruction

 • Stopped Allowance Support 
becomes payable upon the return 
of cars on the scheme 

– ‘Governance Costs’ include audit 
fees, legal advice for Governors 
relating to the financial management 
of the Charity, and compliance 
with constitutional and statutory 
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

requirements, and are part of the 
total support costs of the Charity. 
These are allocated as part of non-
directly attributable support costs  
as described below 

– ‘Allocated Support Costs’ and 
‘Governance Costs’ are allocated on 
the ratio of charitable expenditure 

Staff costs comprise salaries and social 
security contributions, contributions 
to the Charity’s defined contribution 
scheme, and the change to the SoFA 
in respect of the defined benefits 
pension scheme. Any annual leave 
that an employee has accrued but not 
yet taken as at 31 March is calculated 
at the pro-rata cost of these days. The 
cost is included within the SoFA, with a 
corresponding liability shown as falling 
due within one year. 

Termination benefits may occur where 
the Charity has agreed to terminate 
the employment of an employee 
and are included within the financial 
statements when the payment has 
been formally agreed or a detailed 
formal plan for the termination from 
which the Charity is realistically unable 
to withdraw exists. The amount of 
termination benefit shown is either  
the amount agreed or paid, or 
the Charity’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the 
obligation. 

F. Tangible Fixed Assets 
Assets are included on the balance 
sheet at cumulative historical cost  
less depreciation and any impairments 
in accordance with FRS 102. The 
cost of tangible fixed assets is their 
purchase price including associated 
costs such as taxes and legal fees, 
together with any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset into 
working condition for its intended 
use; and subsequent dilapidations or 
decommissioning costs anticipated 
which are provided for. Assets in the 
course of construction are stated at 
cost and are not depreciated until 
available for use. Expenditure on fixed 
assets is capitalised, where individual 
items cost £1,000 or more. Fixed 
assets are depreciated on a straight 
line basis over their anticipated useful 
lives as follows: 

– Leasehold improvements: 
Depreciated over the shorter of  
the remaining life of the lease  
or the life of the improvement 

– Office furniture: Five years 
– Fixtures and fittings: Five years 
– Computer hardware: Three years 
– Computer software: Five years 
– Vehicles: Four years 

Capital commitments as at 31 March 
2020 are disclosed in Note 19. 

G. Financial Assets and Liabilities 
including Investments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are recognised when the Charity 
becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

All financial assets and liabilities are 
initially measured at transaction price 
(including transaction costs), except 
for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or 
loss, which are initially measured 
at fair value (which is normally the 
transaction price excluding transaction 
costs) at the trade date unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction. If an arrangement 
constitutes a financing transaction,  
the financial asset or financial liability 
is measured at the present value of  
the future payments discounted at  
a market rate of interest for a similar 
debt instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities are 
subsequently measured at their 
transaction price except for quoted 
investments, which are held at fair 
value through profit and loss and 
financing transactions which are held 
at the present value of the future 
payments discounted at a market 
rate of interest for a similar debt 
instrument through profit and loss. 
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The Charity and Group have financial 
assets and financial liabilities of a 
kind that qualify as basic financial 
instruments. Basic financial 
instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently 
measured at their settlement 
value, with the exception of listed 
investments which are held at fair 
value through profit and loss. 

The Charity and Group also hold 
nonbasic financial instruments 
including forward exchange contracts. 
Other financial instruments are  
initially recognised at transaction  
value and are subsequently held  
at fair value through profit and loss. 

Unquoted investments are valued 
at the best estimate of fair value as 
follows: 

– Pooled investments are stated at fair 
value, the basis of fair value being 
the market value of the underlying 
investments held. These valuations 
are provided by the fund managers 
and are subject either to independent 
valuation or annual audit 

– Unquoted hedge funds are valued 
by reference to the market value of 
their underlying investments. These 
valuations are provided by the third 
party hedge fund administrators 

– Private equity investments are 

held through funds managed by 
private equity groups. As there is 
no identifiable market price for 
private equity funds, these funds 
are included at the most recent 
valuations from the private equity 
groups where:
 • The private equity group provides 

a fair value that complies with 
the International Private Equity 
and Venture Capital Valuation 
Guidelines; or

 • The private equity group provides 
valuations that comply with 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards or US GAAP

 • Where a valuation is not available 
at the balance sheet date, the most 
recent valuation from the private 
equity group is used, adjusted for 
cash flows and foreign exchange 
movements and any impairment 
between the most recent valuation 
and the balance sheet date 

• Where a private equity group 
does not provide a fair value that 
complies with the above and the 
Charity is unable to obtain a reliable 
fair value, then these investments 
are held at cost 

– Derivative financial instruments. 
Managers of segregated funds may 
enter into derivatives as part of 
their portfolio risk management, 
fair values of these derivatives are 

provided by the fund managers. 

Investment in the subsidiary Motability 
Enterprise Limited is unquoted and 
held at cost less impairment. 
Net realised and unrealised gains and 
losses on investments are recognised 
within the SoFA. Gains and losses 
are realised when an investment is 
disposed of in the year. Unrealised 
gains and losses arise on the 
revaluation of investments to fair  
value at the balance sheet date. 

Transactions denominated in foreign 
currency are translated at the 
exchange rate ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency are translated at the 
exchange rate ruling at the balance 
sheet date. All gains and losses on 
exchange, realised and unrealised, are 
included in the appropriate income or 
expenditure category in the SoFA. 

H. Fund Accounting 
Expendable endowment funds are 
held and invested to provide a return 
to support general funds expenditure 
on Motability’s objects. The Governors 
aim to preserve the real value of the 
capital and the return on it over the 
long term. Capital can be spent in 
exceptional circumstances. FI
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Restricted funds are funds subject 
to specific restrictions imposed by 
the donor. They provide funds for 
the purpose of grant-making and 
supporting Motability’s administration 
and support costs. These funds are 
held by Motability until spent in 
accordance with the terms of the 
donation. 

Unrestricted funds comprise the 
accumulated movement on funds 
available for use at the absolute 
discretion of the Governors. 
Unrestricted funds may be transferred 
to a restricted fund in order to support 
that specific activity. Any transfer 
between funds requires the approval  
of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Designated funds comprise funds 
which Governors have set aside for a 
particular activity or purpose. If funds 
are unspent funds at the end of a 
project or activity they are transferred 
to unrestricted funds or may be 
designated for another purpose. 

I. Pension Costs 
The Charity operates a defined benefit 
pension scheme for certain employees. 
The amounts charged to the SoFA 
are the costs arising from employee 
services rendered during the period 
and the cost of plan introductions, 
benefit changes, settlements and 

curtailment. They are included as  
part of staff costs. 

The net interest cost on the defined 
benefit liability is charged to the SoFA 
and included within support costs. 
Re-measurement comprising actuarial 
gains and losses, and the return on 
scheme assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability) are recognised 
immediately in the SoFA. 

The defined benefit scheme is funded, 
with the assets of the scheme held 
separately from those of the Group, 
in separate Trustee-administered 
funds. The pension scheme assets are 
measured at fair value and liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis 
using the attained age method and 
discounted at a rate equivalent to the 
current rate of return on a high-quality 
corporate bond of equivalent currency 
and term to the scheme liabilities. 

Actuarial valuations are obtained at 
least triennially and are updated at 
each balance sheet date. The resulting 
defined benefit asset or liability is 
presented separately after other net 
assets on the face of the balance 
sheet. 

The Charity also operates a defined 
contribution scheme and the amount 

charged to the Consolidated SoFA 
in respect of pension costs and 
other post-retirement benefits is the 
contributions payable in the year. 
Differences between contributions 
payable in the year and contributions 
actually paid are shown as either 
accruals or prepayments in the 
balance sheet. 

J. Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases 
if they transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership, and 
are included on the balance sheet  
as an asset and a liability at the lower 
of the fair value of the asset and 
the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases, with  
the lease payments recognised as  
an expense over the lease term on  
a straight-line basis. 

The nature of the current and prior 
year lease commitments were of an 
operating nature and consequently  
no leases fall to be capitalised under 
this policy. 

K. Accounting for PIP Transitional 
Support Payments 
All potential future PIP Transitional 
Support Payments, for which a 
constructive obligation is deemed 
to exist at the balance sheet date, 
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have been provided for as a balance 
sheet provision with the costs 
shown separately within the Cost of 
Charitable Activities. The constructive 
liability is deemed to exist for all 
projected customers eligible for a 
transitional support payment until the 
date that any future changes to the 
current support programme could be 
practically implemented. An annual 
review is carried out at the end of  
each calendar year. 

L. Debtors 
Trade and other debtors are 
recognised at the settlement amount 
due after any trade discount offered. 
Investment income owed is accrued 
at their anticipated receipt value.  
Prepayments are valued at the amount 
prepaid net of any trade discounts due. 

M. Current Investments and Cash 
Current Asset Investments are money 
market funds normally with an 
average duration of three months or 
more. Where market conditions at 
the balance sheet date suggest that 
liquidity is stressed either within the 
fund or within money markets and 
short bond markets more generally, 
Current Asset Investments may 
include money market funds with  
an average duration of less than  
three months. 

Cash and cash equivalents is instant 
cash that the Charity has available. 

N. Creditors 
Creditors and provisions are recognised 
where the Charity has a present 
obligation resulting from a past event 
that will probably result in the transfer 
of funds to a third party and the 
amount due to settle the obligation 
can be measured or estimated reliably. 
Creditors and provisions are normally 
recognised at their settlement amount 
after allowing for any trade discounts 
due. 

O. Provisions and  
Contingent Liabilities 
Provisions are recognised where there 
is a present obligation as a result of 
a past event, if it is probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of  
the amount of the obligation. 

Under the terms of its office lease, the 
Charity will be required to make good 
the condition of the property when 
it leaves. The Dilapidations Provision 
in the accounts is based on a ‘cost of 
works’ for this work to be carried out. 

A provision in respect of the PIP 
Transitional Support Payments is  
set out in Accounting Policy Note K. 

Where no provision is recognised, 
contingent liabilities are disclosed in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements, 
unless the possibility of a transfer  
of economic benefits is remote. 

P. Critical Accounting  
Judgements And Estimations 
In the application of the accounting 
policies, which are described within 
this note, the Governors are required 
to make judgements and assumptions 
leading to financial estimates about 
the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The assumptions 
and associated estimates are based on 
historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Other than pension 
obligations where the actuarial 
assumptions underlying the pension 
deficit are set out in Note 18, the 
Trustees consider the most significant 
judgements and estimates to be in 
relation to the PIP Provision as follows: 

PIP Provision Judgements 

The underlying assumptions and 
judgements for the PIP provision have 
been calculated using a model based 
on actual information for 2019/20. 
The assumptions relating to the PIP 
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Transitional Support Payments are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis as well 
as an annual review that takes place 
before the end of each calendar year. 

A number of judgement variables 
are built into the model and some 
assumptions behind the provision 
figure for this year have been changed 
to reflect recent experience. The 
material changes relate to a reduced 
rate of DWP PIP reassessments and  
a reappraisal of the proportion of DLA  
to PIP reassessments that relate to  
the Higher Rate Mobility Component  
of DLA. In addition, an extra option in 
the Transitional Support Payments  
was announced whereby customers 
can choose to retain their car for 
longer, up to a total of 26 weeks, 
and qualify for a reduced transitional 
support payment. 

PIP Provision Estimates 

The provision at the end of 2018/19 
was based on an estimate that ranged 
from a low of £9.9 million to a high of 
£22.3 million. The actual spend was 
within this range for 2019/20 at £13.7 
million, with a further £0.2 million 
anticipated to be spent by end of July 
2020, totalling £13.9 million. Owing 
to a suspension of activity due to 
COVID-19, the provision for 2019/20 
was based on a 2020/21 range from  

a low of £1.5 million to a high of  
£7.4 million. 

Q. Taxation 
The charitable members of the 
Group are exempt from taxation on 
their income and gains falling within 
Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 
2010 or section 256 of the Taxation 
of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to 
the extent that they are applied 
to their charitable purposes. The 
non-charitable subsidiary, although 
subject to taxation, does not pay UK 
Corporation Tax because its policy is  
to donate taxable profits as Gift Aid  
to Motability. Foreign tax incurred  
on overseas investments is charged  
as it is incurred. 

Current tax, including UK corporation 
tax and foreign tax, is provided at 
amounts expected to be paid (or 
recovered) using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect 
of all timing differences that have 
originated but not reversed at the 
balance sheet date. Timing differences 
are differences between the taxable 
profits and results as stated in the 
Financial Statements. Unrelieved tax 
losses and other deferred tax assets 

are recognised only to the extent that, 
on the basis of all available evidence, 
it can be regarded as more likely than 
not that there will be suitable taxable 
profits from which the future reversal 
of the underlying timing differences 
can be deducted. 

Deferred tax is recognised on 
fair market value adjustments of 
investment subsidiaries even though 
the subsidiaries will be able to donate 
the profits from the future realisation 
of the underlying assets so that no 
current tax charge will arise. Deferred 
tax is measured using the tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date that are expected to apply 
to the reversal of the timing difference. 
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2. Trading Activities of the Subsidiary 
The Charity has a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Motability Enterprises Limited, which is incorporated in the UK. 
Company Number 01786053; Registered address Warwick House, Roydon Road, Harlow, Essex, CM19 5PX. 

Motability Enterprises Limited passes any of its trading profits to Motability under company Gift Aid under Deed of Covenant 
without deduction of tax. 

A summary of its trading results extracted from its full accounts is shown below. 

The net assets of the subsidiary are £14,576 (2019: £14,576). 

Total 
2020 
£’000 

Total 
2019 
£’000 

 Income and Expenditure Account: 
      Turnover 467 540 
      Less: Cost of Goods Sold and Other Costs (36) (33)
 Gross Profit 431 507 
      Administration Expenses (98) (118) 
      Interest Receivable 2 2
 Net Profit 335 391 
      Gift Aided to Motability (335) (391)
 Retained in Subsidiary - -
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

3. Charitable Expenditure 

Direct 

Grants 

2020  
£’000 

Direct 

Charitable 

Activity 
2020  
£’000 

Allocated 

Support 

Costs 
2020  
£’000 

Governance  
2020  
£’000 

Total 
Costs 
2020  
£’000 

Restated 

Direct 
Grants 

2019  
£’000 

Direct 

Charitable 

Activity  
2019  
£’000 

Allocated 

Support 
Costs 
2019  
£’000 

 Governance  
2019 
£’000 

Total 
Costs 
2019 
£’000 

Grants to Individuals: 
      Car and Simple Adaptations 13,770 1,018 1,167 118 16,073 6,028 462 550 80 7,120
      Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 
      and Complex Adaptations 18,789 1,389 1,593 161 21,932 13,933 1,069 1,272 184 16,458
      Drive from Wheelchair / Internal 
      Transfer Vehicles 18,525 1,369 1,570 159 21,623 11,964 918 1,092 159 14,133
      Driving Lesson Support 1,402 104 119 12 1,637 1,006 77 92 14 1,189
      Additional Transitional Support 407 30 34 3 474 776 60 71 10 917
      Stopped Allowance Support 3,658 - 289 29 3,976 - - - - -
      PIP Transitional Support Programme 13,671 - 1,079 109 14,859 18,953 - 1,607 233 20,793 
      Access to Work 26 - 2 - 28 - - - - -
 Grants to Individuals 70,248 3,910 5,853 591 80,602 52,660 2,586 4,684 680 60,610 

 Grants to Institutions:          
      Support Under 3 Year Olds (Family Fund) 500 - 39 4 543 - - - - -

Wizzybugs 300 - 24 2 326 - - - - -
 Grants to Institutions 800 - 63 6 869 - - - - -
 Grant-Making Awarded Before
 Movement in Provision 71,048 3,910 5,916 597 81,471 52,660 2,586 4,684 680 60,610
      PIP Provision (Release) / Charge (10,282) - - - (10,282) (25,700) - - - (25,700)
 Motability Funded Grant-Making 60,766 3,910 5,916 597 71,189 26,960 2,586 4,684 680 34,910
 Build Awareness - 1,281 101 10 1,392 - 1,006 85 13 1,104
 Innovation - 179 15 1 195 - 33 3 - 36
 Motability Scheme - 319 25 3 347 - 527 45 6 578
 Motability Funded Charitable Activities 60,766 5,689 6,057 611 73,123 26,960 4,152 4,817 699 36,628
     War Pensioners 
     (DWP Government Grant Funded) 295 22 25 3 345 262 20 24 3 309
 Charitable Expenditure 61,061 5,711 6,082 614 73,468 27,222 4,172 4,841 702 36,937 

    
      

   

The value of Charitable Expenditure by Activity has been used as the basis for apportionment of the support and governance costs shown above. Both the 
basis of allocation of governance  and support costs, and the description of the activities undertaken, have been changed to better reflect management 
accountabilities and the purpose of expenditure so as to provide greater clarity  for activities undertaken in the year. The releases of the PIP provision during 
2019 and 2020 results from a reassessment of the assumptions at year end, following actual payment experience during the year. 
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3. Charitable Expenditure Cont. 

  Reconciliation of Grants Payable: 2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 Commitment at 1 April 20,376 14,265
 Commitments Made in the Year 71,343 52,922
 Grants Paid During the Year (59,207) (46,811)
 Commitment at 31 March 32,512 20,376 

 Outstanding Grant Commitments 
  at 31 March 2020 are Payable as Follows: 2020 

£’000 
2019 
£’000

 Within One Year (Note 11) 32,512 20,376
 Commitment at 31 March 32,512 20,376 

 Charitable Expenditure as Reported Last Year: 

Direct 
Grants 

2019 
£’000 

Allocated 
Support 

Costs 
2019 
£’000 

Total 
Costs 
2019 
£’000

 Motability Funded Charitable Grants 33,707 1,261 34,968
 PIP Transitional Support Programme 18,953 4,522 23,475
 Grant-Making Awarded Before Movement in Provision 52,660 5,783 58,443
 PIP Provision Release (25,700) - (25,700)
 Motability Funded Charitable Activities 26,960 5,783 32,743
 War Pensioners 262 13 275
 Scheme Operations / Communications - 3,919 3,919
 Charitable Expenditure 27,222 9,715 36,937 
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4. Analysis of Total Expenditure 

Cost of 
Raising Funds 

2020 
£’000 

Direct 
Grants 

2020 
£’000 

Direct 
Charitable 

Activity 
2020 
£’000 

 Allocated 
Support 

Costs 
2020 
£’000 

Governance 
Costs 
2020 
£’000 

Total 
Costs 
2020 
£’000

  Cost of Raising Funds 94 - - - 9 103
  Cost of Goods Sold and Other Costs 36 - - - - 36
  Investment Management Fees and Other Costs 1,265 - - - - 1,265

 Cost of Raising Funds 1,395 - - - 9 1,404
   Grant-Making - 60,766 3,910 5,916 597 71,189
   Build Awareness - - 1,281 101 10 1,392
   Innovation - - 179 15 1 195
   Motability Scheme - - 319 25 3 347

 Motability Funded Charitable Activities - 60,766 5,689 6,057 611 73,123
 War Pensioners - 295 22 25 3 345 
 Charitable Expenditure - 61,061 5,711 6,082 614 73,468
 Total Expenditure 1,395 61,061 5,711 6,082 623 74,872

 Please refer to Note 5 for an analysis of functional support costs by activity.     
 The amounts of ‘allocated support costs’ attributed to ‘direct grants’ and ‘direct charitable activities’  are in proportion to the direct 
 expenditure on those activities. 

Cost of 
Raising Funds 

2019 
£’000 

Direct 
Grants 

2019 
£’000 

Direct 
Charitable 

Activity 
2019 
£’000 

 Allocated 
Support 

Costs 
2019 
£’000 

Governance 
Costs 
2019 
£’000 

Total 
Costs 
2019 
£’000

  Cost of Raising Funds 116 - - - 13 129
  Cost of Goods Sold and Other Costs 33 - - - - 33
  Investment Management Fees and Other Costs 241 - - - - 241

 Cost of Raising Funds 390 - - - 13 403
      Grant-Making - 26,960 2,586 4,684 680 34,910
      Build Awareness - - 1,006 85 13 1,104
      Innovation - - 33 3 - 36
      Motability Scheme - - 527 45 6 578
 Motability Funded Charitable Activities - 26,960 4,152 4,817 699 36,628
 War Pensioners - 262 20 24 3 309
 Charitable Expenditure - 27,222 4,172 4,841 702 36,937
 Total Expenditure 390 27,222 4,172 4,841 715 37,340

    
    
    

 Please refer to Note 5 for an analysis of functional support costs by activity. As a result of identifying direct charitable expenditure, 
 the amount attributed to ‘allocated support costs’ was changed.f  
 The amounts of ‘allocated support costs’ attributed to ‘direct grants’ and ‘direct charitable activities’ are in proportion to the direct
 expenditure on those activities. 
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4. Analysis of Total Expenditure Cont. 

Governance 
Costs 
2020 
£’000 

Governance 
Costs 
2019 
£’000

 External Audit Fees 134 67
 Internal Audit Fees 15 20
 Legal Fees 472 621
 Members Expenses 2 7
 Governance Costs 623 715 

The External Audit Fees expenditure shown above are fees of £134,000 payable to the statutory auditor which comprise £127,000 
for the statutory audit of Motability Accounts and fees of £7,000 for the statutory audit of subsidiary accounts. 

No fees have been partially paid to the statutory auditor for other services during the year. 
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

5. Analysis of Support and Governance Costs 

Cost of 
Raising Funds 

2020 
£’000 

 Strategic Pillars 

War  
Pensioners 

2020 
£’000 

Grand 
Total 
2020 
£’000 

Grant- 
Making 

2020 
£’000 

Build 
Awareness 

2020 
£’000 

Innovation 

2020 
£’000 

Motability 
Scheme 

2020 
£’000 

      Human Resources - 733 13 2 3 3 754
      Information Technology - 1,000 17 2 4 4 1,027
      Finance and Administration - 1,193 20 3 5 5 1,226
      Facilities - 1,007 17 2 4 4 1,034
      VAT, Depreciation and Other - 1,986 34 5 8 8 2,041
 Allocated Support Costs - 5,919 101 14 24 24 6,082
 Governance Costs 9 597 10 1 3 3 623
 Total Support Costs 9 6,516 111 15 27 27 6,705

 Please refer to Note 4 where Support and Governance Costs are summarised.   
 The value of Charitable Expenditure by Activity has been used as the basis for apportionment of the Support  and Governance Costs 
 shown above. The basis of allocation of internal operating expenditure has been changed  to better reflect management accountabilities
 and the purpose of expenditure so as to provide greater clarity  for activities undertaken in the year. 

       
    

 
  
 
 

   

Cost of 
Raising Funds 

2019 
£’000 

 Strategic Pillars 

War  
Pensioners 

2019 
£’000 

Grand 
Total 
2019 
£’000 

Grant- 
Making 

2019 
£’000 

Build 
Awareness 

2019 
£’000 

Innovation 

2019 
£’000 

Motability 
Scheme 

2019 
£’000 

   Human Resources - 591 11 - 6 3 611
   Information Technology - 967 18 - 9 4 998
   Finance and Administration - 1,070 20 - 10 5 1,105
   Facilities - 1,107 20 1 11 4 1,143
   VAT, Depreciation and Other - 950 17 - 9 8 984

 Allocated Support Costs - 4,685 86 1 45 24 4,841
 Governance Costs 13 680 13 - 6 3 715
 Total Support Costs 13 5,365 99 1 51 27 5,556

    

   
   
   
   

 Please refer to Note 4 where Support and Governance Costs are summarised.   
 The value of Charitable Expenditure by Activity has been used as the basis for apportionment of the Support  and Governance Costs
 shown above. The basis of allocation of internal operating expenditure has been changed  to better reflect management accountabilities
 and the purpose of expenditure so as to provide greater clarity  for activities undertaken in the year. 
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6. Governors, Staff and Related Parties 
a) Numbers and Costs 
The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year analysed by category, was as follows: 
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2020 
Number 

2019 
Number

 Direct Charitable Activities 84 61
 Support Staff 67 50
 Governance 2 2
 Motability Enterprises Ltd 1 1
 Total 154 114 

Staff costs were as follows: 
2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 Salaries Including Benefits in Kind 5,453 3,843
 Staff Restructure Programme 38 21
 Social Security Costs 536 375
 Pension Costs: Defined Benefit 317 299
 Pension Costs: Defined Contribution 659 483
 Other Staff Costs 534 389
 Total 7,537 5,410 

The number of employees whose emoluments, excluding pension contributions and employers NIC, for the year fell within 
the following bands: 

2020 
Number 

2019 
Number

 £60,000 to £69,999 4 3
 £70,000 to £79,999 2 3
 £80,000 to £89,999 3 1
 £90,000 to £99,999 2 1
 £100,000 to £109,999 1 -
£110,000 to £119,999 - 1

 £140,000 to £149,999 1 -
 Total 13 9 
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

6. Governors, Staff and Related Parties cont. 

Key management personnel of the 
Group and Charity are defined as the 
Governors and the Executive Directors: 
The Chief Executive; Finance Director; 
Director of Charitable Operations; 
and Director for Performance and 
Engagement. 

The total remuneration (including 
employers NIC, pension contributions, 
and benefits in kind) of the key 
management personnel of the  
Charity for the year totalled  
£0.6 million (2019: £0.4 million). 

In 2019/20, one termination benefit 
was paid. 

b) Governors’ Emoluments 
The number of Governors in 2020 was 
11 (2019: 10). No Governor received 
any emoluments during the year 
(2019: nil). Seven Governors (2019: six) 
received reimbursement of expenses 
amounting to £2,480 (2019: £4,040). 

c) Professional Indemnity 
Appropriate insurance has been 
arranged by the Charity to indemnify 
Governors and employees for their 
legal liability for damages and legal 
expenses arising from the performance 
of their duties. 

d) Related Parties 
Motability directs and oversees the 
Motability Scheme, which is operated 
on behalf of Motability by Motability 
Operations, a separate commercial 
company whose shares are held by 
four major banks. 

Motability paid Motability Operations 
£38.7 million (2019: £28.2 million), 
in respect of grants awarded to 
customers, to fund Advance Payments 
and adaptations on vehicles provided 
under the lease schemes by Motability 
Operations to customers in receipt 
of grants. This includes £0.53 million 
(2019: £2.4 million) received as a 
discount, negotiated with Motability 
Operations, on vehicles for customers 
whose leases had been supported by 
Charitable Grants. 

As at 31 March 2020 Motability 
Operations was due £36.4 million 
(2019: £23.0 million) from Motability. 

In addition, £3.6 million (2019: £2.8 
million) was received from Motability 
Operations as rebates, where 
customers early terminated their  
lease agreements, in respect of grant 
awards towards Advance Payments 
and adaptations managed by 
Motability Operations.  

In April 2019, Motability ceased 
charging a lease levy, originally used to 
cover Motability administration costs, 
to Motability Operations resulting in a 
nil balance being owed on 31 March 
2020 (2019: £1.3 million). 

As at 31 March 2020 £0.4 million 
(2019: £2.1 million) was due to 
Motability from Motability Operations. 
In 2019, an unrestricted expendable 
endowment of £852.3 million was 
received from Motability Operations 
which was intended to support the 
creation of the Motability Endowment 
Trust (known as the “Foundation”). The 
Foundation’s purpose is unrestricted 
and the endowment is expendable  
at the Trustees’ discretion. 

In 2018, Motability Operations donated 
£400 million of Unrestricted Funds to 
advance the work of Motability. 

Motability has taken the exemption 
under FRS 102 from disclosing 
transactions with its trading subsidiary, 
Motability Enterprises Limited. 

During the year an award was made  
to Family Fund (see Note 19 for details) 
of which one of the Governors is a 
Director. The Governor did not vote  
on the award decision. 
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Motability paid £0.7 million (2019: 
£1.3 million) to ‘Motability Pension 
Scheme’ in respect of the defined 
benefit scheme, which was closed  
to future accrual from 30 April 2012. 
See Note 18. 

e) Related Charity 
Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust 
(MTAT) was set up in 1989 to support 
the work of Motability. MTAT has 
shared two of its four Trustees with 
Motability during the year, Lord 
Sterling of Plaistow GCVO CBE and 
Sir Gerald Acher CBE LVO FCA. Where 
conflicted, these Trustees recused 
themselves from decision making at 
MTAT. The Governors did not regard 
MTAT as a related party as defined  
by FRS 102. 

MTAT was closed on 31 March 2020 
and therefore the principal transaction 
with MTAT was the donation of MTAT’s 
net assets as at 31 March 2020 to 
Motability Endowment Trust (the 
Motability Foundation). The donation 
amounted to £201.2 million (2019: 
£15.0 million). 

Ahead of the closure, donations from 
MTAT were ceased in September 2019 
and funding made from General Funds 
of Motability instead. As a result, up 
to the transfer there was a significant 
year-on-year drop in income from MTAT. 

During the period, requests were  
made by Motability for grant funding 
of £2.3 million (2019: £2.8 million) 
and the MTAT provided donations of 
£0.2 million (2019: £0.8 million) for the 
PIP Transitional Support Programme. 
A donation was received from the 
MTAT of £3.7 million for Drive-From-
Wheelchair vehicles (£8.7 million in 
2019). 

In addition, an administration charge 
of £0.1 million was paid by MTAT to 
Motability during the year (2019:  
£0.1 million). 

Farrer & Co are the appointed solicitors 
for Motability and for MTAT. A partner 
of Farrer & Co acts as company 
secretary for MTAT. Farrer & Co deploy 
separate partners and staff teams to 
Motability and MTAT, and put in place 
an information barrier between those 
teams for the purposes of the transfer 
of MTAT’s net assets to Motability. 

Farrer & Co invoiced Motability  
£0.6 million during the year (2019: 
£0.5 million). 
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7. Fixed Asset Investment in Subsidiary Undertaking 
Motability holds 100 ordinary shares of £1 each in Motability Enterprises Limited incorporated in the UK  
(Company No. 1786053) whose registered office is Warwick House, Roydon Road, Harlow, Essex, CM19 5PX. 

The company carries out certain trading activities in order to raise funds for Motability (Note 2). 

8. Tangible Fixed Assets (Group and Charity) 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

£’000 

Motor 
Vehicles 

£’000 

Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

Fixtures 
and 

Fittings 
£’000 

Computer 
Hardware 

£’000 

Computer 
Software 

£’000 
Total 

£’000 

  Cost:
 Balance at 1 April 2019 3,074 338 263 230 782 1,326 6,013
 Additions 402 511 8 - 55 145 1,121 
Transfers - - - - - - -
Disposals - - (37) (17) - - (54)

 At 31 March 2020 3,476 849 234 213 837 1,471 7,080 

 Depreciation:
 Balance at 1 April 2019 1,575 275 133 201 607 852 3,643 
Charge for the Year 359 94 24 14 114 141 746 
Transfers - - - - - - -
Disposals - - (20) (17) - - (37)

 At 31 March 2020 1,934 369 137 198 721 993 4,352 

Net Book Value:
 At 31 March 2020 1,542 480 97 15 116 478 2,728

 At 31 March 2019 1,499 63 130 29 175 474 2,370

      

       
 

Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

      

      
      

 All Assets are Used for Direct Charitable Purposes 
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9. Debtors 

Group 
2020 
£’000 

Group 
2019 
£’000 

Charity 
2020 
£’000 

Charity 
2019 
£’000

 Other Debtors (1) 261 162 206 141
 Amounts Owed by Subsidiary  - - 334 399
 Amounts Owed by Motability Operations Limited  372 2,057 371 2,057
 Amounts Owed by The Motability Tenth Anniversary Trust - 11,939 - 11,940
 Accrued Investment Income (2)  3,055 964 3,055 963
 Prepayments  716 581 715 577
 Prepayments and Accrued Income  3,771 1,545 3,770 1,540
 Debtors  4,404 15,703 4,681 16,077

  

     

 

 (1) Other Debtors includes War Pensioners of £103,488 (2019: £82,000)
 (2) Investment income of £5,294,000 is made up of Accrued Investment Income of £3,055,00 and Investment Income Received 

of £2,239,000 
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10. Investments 
At 31 March 2020, Group and Charity investments comprised: 

Total 
2020 
£’000 

Total 
2019 
£’000 

 Fixed Asset Investments:
      Listed Equity Securities 325,054 -
      Listed Debt Securities 331,527 -
      Money Market Instruments 545,732 -
      Other Investments 38,096 -
 Fixed Asset Investments 1,240,409 -

 Current Asset Investments:
 Debt Securities - 84,922

      Money Market Instruments - 322,414
 Current Asset Investments - 407,336
 Total Investments 1,240,409 407,336
   
 

 
  

 

 
 
 

   
 

   
 

  
 
   

Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

 All bonds are managed as part of the fixed assets portfolio. 
 £182 million have maturity dates beyond one year (2019: £29 million). 

Total 
2020 
£’000

 Fair Value as at 1 April 2019 407,336
      Endowment Cash to Portfolio - Purchases 727,345
      Endowment Non-Cash to Portfolio - Purchases 191,970
       – Gross Sales (844,396)

 – Gross Purchases 802,358
      Net Sales / Purchases (42,039)
      Revaluation (44,204)
 Fair Value as at 31 March 2020 1,240,409 

The investment portfolio held at 31 March 2020 is being held for the long term and contains a mix of investments  
including some cash balances and money market instruments. 

The prior year current assets, which now form part of this new long-term portfolio, have been included here for 
comparability. 
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11. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year 

Group 
2020 
£’000 

Group 
2019 
£’000 

Charity 
2020 
£’000 

Charity 
2019 
£’000 

  Accruals for Grants Payable:
      Charitable Grants 3,018 1,686 3,018 1,686
      Specialised Vehicles Fund 29,340 17,541 29,340 17,541
      War Pensioners (DWP Government Grant Funded) 82 52 82 52
      PIP Transitional Support 72 80 72 80
 Accruals for Grants Payable 32,512 19,359 32,512 19,359 
     
Creditors:

      Trade Creditors 5,970 5,297 5,967 5,280
      Accruals and Deferred Income 977 936 966 931
      Taxation and Social Security 155 400 155 400
 Creditors 7,102 6,633 7,088 6,611
     
 Creditors Falling Due Within One Year 39,614 25,992 39,600 25,970 

Group 
2020 
£’000 

Group 
2019 
£’000 

Charity 
2020 
£’000 

Charity 
2019 
£’000

      Amounts Owed to Motability Operations Limited 36,427 22,990 36,427 22,990
 Amounts Owed to Group and Associated Undertakings 36,427 22,990 36,427 22,990
      Amounts Owed to Third Parties 3,187 3,002 3,173 2,980
 Creditors Falling Due Within One Year 39,614 25,992 39,600 25,970 
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12. Provisions 

  Group and Charity Dilapidation Provision: 2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

      Provision Brought Forward 1 April 560 500
      Movement in Provision - 60
 Dilapidation Provision Carried Forward 31 March 560 560

  Group and Charity PIP Provision: 2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

    Provision Brought Forward 1 April 
  

15,766 41,451
  Provision Utilised in Year (13,669) (18,948)

    Charge / (Credit) in Year 3,387 (6,737)
 PIP Provision Carried Forward 31 March 5,484 15,766

 Provisions Carried Forward 31 March 6,044 16,326 

 

 

   
   

  
   

  
   

   
  

   
  
  

   
   

  
   
   

  
  

Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

All potential future PIP Transitional Support Payments, for which a constructive obligation is 
deemed to exist at the balance sheet date, have been provided for as a balance sheet provision 
with the costs shown separately within the Charitable Expenditure. The constructive liability is 
deemed to exist for all projected customers eligible for a Transitional Support Payment until the 
date that any future changes to the current support programme could be practically implemented. 
An annual review is carried out at the end of each calendar year. 

The key underlying assumptions and judgments for the PIP provision remain the same as in 
previous years: the volume of DWP reassessment activity in the transition from DLA to PIP; the 
failure rate of Scheme customers in making that transition to PIP; and the proportion of Scheme 
customers who fail reassessment but opt to retain their vehicle for 26 weeks in return for a lower 
TSP payment. However, this year the calculation of the provision is further complicated by the 
DWP suspending all reassessment activity as a result of COVID-19. An estimate has been made on 
when the reassessment activity will resume and on the likely volume of caseloads. The suspension 
of reassessments has reduced the size of the provision and also extended the length of the 
programme. 
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13. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After One Year (Group and Charity) 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

      Amortised Rent-Free Period on Current Premises Lease 69 97
 Creditors Falling Due After One Year 69 97 

14. Analysis of Group Net Assets / Liabilities Between Funds 

Unrestricted 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Restricted 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Endowment 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Group 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

 Fund Balances at 31 March 2020 are Represented by:
      Non-Current Assets 349,692 42,070 851,375 1,243,137
      Current Assets 74,745 4,889 160,112 239,746
      Current Liabilities (38,816) (321) (476) (39,613)
      Provisions (560) (5,484) - (6,044)
      Creditors Over One Year (69) - - (69)
 Net Assets Excluding Pension Liability 384,992 41,154 1,011,011 1,437,157
      Pension Surplus / (Liability) - - - -
 Net Assets Including Pension Liability 384,992 41,154 1,011,011 1,437,157 

    

 
 
 
 

Unrestricted 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Restricted 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Endowment 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

Group 
Total 

Funds 
£’000 

 Fund Balances at 31 March 2019 are represented by:
  Non-Current Assets - 2,370 - 2,370 
Current Assets 458,994 83,147 - 542,141 
Current Liabilities (12,744) (13,248) - (25,992) 
Provisions - (16,326) - (16,326) 
Creditors Over One Year - (97) - (97)

 Net Assets Excluding Pension Liability 446,250 55,846 - 502,096
      Pension Surplus / (Liability) - (3,700) - (3,700)
 Net Assets Including Pension Liability 446,250 52,146 - 498,396 
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

15. Restricted Funds 

 Movement in Funds:  

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£’000 
Income 

£’000 
Expenditure 

£’000 

 Investment 
Gains and 

Losses 
£’000 

Other 
Realised 

Gain/Loss 
£’000 

Transfers 
Between 

Funds 
£’000 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£’000

      Fundraising - Donations and Appeals 40 2 - - - 14 56
      Specialised Vehicle Fund to Disabled People (882) (5,854) (18,550) - - 25,286 -
      PIP Transitional Support Programme 44,133 1,078 (3,874) (562) - 282 41,057
      Funding and Other Income in 
      Relation to Administration Costs 12,531 35 (12,409) - (240) 83 -
      War Pensioners 
      (DWP Government Grant Funded) 24 312 (295) - - - 41
 Balance before Pension Deficit 55,846 (4,427) (35,128) (562) (240) 25,665 41,154
      Pension Surplus / (Liability) (3,700) - - - 3,700 - -
 Restricted Funds 52,146 (4,427) (35,128) (562) 3,460 25,665 41,154 

 Movement in Funds:  

Balance 
31/03/2018 

£’000 
Income 

£’000 
Expenditure 

£’000 

Investment 
Gains and 

Losses 
£’000 

Other 
Realised 

Gain/Loss 
£’000 

Transfers 
Between 

Funds 
£’000 

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£’000

      Fundraising - Donations and Appeals 25 (1,876) - - - 1,891 40
      Specialised Vehicle Fund to Disabled People (263) 11,379 (11,998) - - - (882)
      PIP Transitional Support Programme 36,745 2,260 5,853 (725) - - 44,133
      Funding and Other Income in 
      Relation to Administration Costs 14,111 9,142 (9,721) - (1,001) - 12,531
      War Pensioners 
      (DWP Government Grant Funded) 24 279 (279) - - - 24
      Pension Adjustment - - - - - - -
 Balance Before Pension Deficit 50,642 21,184 (16,145) (725) (1,001) 1,891 55,846
      Pension Surplus / (Liability) (3,039) - - - (661) - (3,700) 
 Restricted Funds 47,603 21,184 (16,145) (725) (1,662) 1,891 52,146 
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16. Unrestricted Funds 

 Movement in Funds:  

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£’000 
Income 

£’000 
Expenditure 

£’000 

Investment 
Gains and 

Losses 
£’000 

Other 
Realised 

Gain/Loss 
£’000 

Transfers 
Between 

Funds 
£’000 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£’000 

 Charity:
     General Fund 402,556 802 (14,317) 1,934 (216) (24,134) 366,625
     Designated Fund  
      - Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund 42,501 1,687 (24,593) (1,238) - (5) 18,352
     Designated Fund 
      - Discretionary Hardship Fund 1,178 353 (5) - - (1,526) -
 Charity Unrestricted Funds 446,235 2,842 (38,915) 696 (216) (25,665) 384,977 

 Group:
     General Fund 402,571 937 (14,452) 1,934 (216) (24,134) 366,640
     Designated Fund 
      - Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund 42,501 1,687 (24,593) (1,238) - (5) 18,352
     Designated Fund 
      - Discretionary Hardship Fund 1,178 353 (5) - - (1,526) -
 Group Unrestricted Funds 446,250 2,977 (39,050) 696 (216) (25,665) 384,992 

    
   
 
Movement in Funds: 

Balance 
31/03/2018 

£’000 
Income 

£’000 
Expenditure 

£’000 

Investment 
Gains and 

Losses 
£’000 

Other 
Realised 

Gain/Loss 
£’000 

Transfers 
Between 

Funds 
£’000 

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£’000 

 Charity:
     General Fund 1,628 405,451 (3,715) 1,083 - (1,891) 402,556
     Designated Fund 
      - Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund 59,089 1,389 (17,318) (659) - - 42,501
     Designated Fund
      - Discretionary Hardship Fund 690 499 (11) - - - 1,178
 Charity Unrestricted Funds 61,407 407,339 (21,044) 424 - (1,891) 446,235 

 Group:
     General Fund 1,643 405,602 (3,866) 1,083 - (1,891) 402,571
     Designated Fund
      - Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund 59,089 1,389 (17,318) (659) - - 42,501
     Designated Fund
      - Discretionary Hardship Fund 690 499 (11) - - - 1,178
 Group Unrestricted Funds 61,422 407,490 (21,195) 424 - (1,891) 446,250 

    

The Specialised Vehicle Passenger Fund has been designed to provide support to passenger WAV customers who need additional financial 
support. The Discretionary Hardship Fund had previously been designated to support customers with Financial Hardship. However, the 
Charity has expanded its grant programmes to encompass the purpose of this fund and therefore the designation is no longer required.   
Accordingly, the remaining fund balance has been transferred to General Funds.   

Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 www.motability.org.uk  103 



   

17. Motability Foundation Endowment Fund 

 Movement in Fund:  

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£’000 
Income 

£’000 
Expenditure 

£’000 

 Investment 
Gains and 

Losses 
£’000 

Other 
Realised 

Gain/Loss 
£’000 

Transfers 
Between 

Funds 
£’000 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

 
 

£’000 

 Charity:
 Motability Foundation Endowment Fund - 1,056,043 (694) (44,338) - - 1,011,011
 Unrestricted Endowment Funds - 1,056,043 (694) (44,338) - - 1,011,011 

 Group:
 Motability Foundation Endowment Fund - 1,056,043 (694) (44,338) - - 1,011,011
 Unrestricted Endowment Funds - 1,056,043 (694) (44,338) - - 1,011,011 

  
 

Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 
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18. Pension Arrangements 
The Group has operated a defined benefit scheme for its employees since November 1988 under which a separate fund is 
being accumulated to meet the accruing liabilities which is held under a trust, entirely separate from the Charity’s assets. 
Payments to the scheme are made in accordance with the recommendations of qualified actuaries. 

From 1 October 2005 changes were made to the defined benefit pension scheme: 

– The scheme was closed to new members 
– Employees who wished to retain the 1/60th benefit were asked to increase their contributions 
– The ability to retire before 65 without actuarial reduction was removed 
– A defined contribution scheme was available from that date to any employees wishing to receive pension benefits 

The defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual from 30 April 2012. 
The last actuarial valuation was prepared using the “Attained Age” method, as at 31 March 2019. 
This valuation used the following assumptions: 

%

 Investment Return in Deferment 3.65
 Investment Return in Payment 1.75
 Salary Increases Nil
 Pension Increases – Deferred Pensioners 2.5
 Pension Increases – Deferred Pensioners 2.0 

At 31 March 2019 the market value of the scheme’s asset was £21.8 million, the present value of liabilities was £23.0 
million resulting in an actuarial deficit of £1.2 million, equivalent to a funding level of 95%. The employer, having considered 
the various recovery plans, agreed to pay £0.7 million on 31 March 2020 and £0.6 million on 31 March 2021, as well as 
scheme costs of £0.08 million p.a., following agreement with the pension Trustees.  

A qualified actuary using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of FRS 102 has updated the 
actuarial valuation described above at 31 March 2020. Investments have been valued for this purpose at fair value. 

The pension cost to the Charity under FRS 102 was £0.32 million (2019: £0.3 million).

 The major assumptions used for the FRS 102 actuarial valuation were: 

 2020 
% 

2019 
% 

2018 
%

 Rate of Increase in Salaries N/A N/A N/A
 Rate of Increase in Pensions in Payment 1.95 2.20 2.10
 Discount Rate 2.30 2.40 2.60
 Price Inflation 2.95 3.20 3.10 
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements cont. 

18.1 The fair value of the assets in the scheme, the present value of the liabilities in the scheme, and the  
expected rate of return at each balance sheet date were: 

2020 
% 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
% 

2019 
£’000 

2018 
% 

2018 
£’000

 Equities 2.30 9,271 2.40 10,129 2.60 11,872
 Bonds / Gilts 2.30 9,721 2.40 7,383 2.60 4,477
 Cash 2.30 2,680 2.40 2,562 2.60 2,994
 Property and Other 2.30 1,605 2.40 1,588 2.60 1,632

 Total Fair Value of Assets 23,277 21,662 20,975
 Present Value of Scheme Liabilities 23,243) 25,362) (24,014)
 Net Pension Asset / (Liability) 34 (3,700) (3,039)
 Adjustment to Restrict Recognition of Surplu (34) - -
 Revised Total, Excluding Continent Asset (1 - (3,700) (3,039) 

( (

s 
)  

(1) A pension fund surplus is the product of a valuation that will be volatile over time. As a result, a pension fund surplus  
is a contingent asset and the revised position of the pension fund in a year of surplus is breakeven. 

The rates used for the expected return on scheme assets are based on the requirements of SORP 2015 (FRS 102) as these 
determine the predicted return in the year to 31 March 2020. The contribution rate for 2020 was nil of pensionable earnings 
(2019: nil) due to the scheme being closed to future accrual with effect from 30 April 2012. 

2020 
% 

2019 
%

 Equities 39.83 46.76
 Bonds / Gilts 41.76 34.08
 Cash 11.51 11.82
 Property and Other 6.90 7.34 

The liabilities were valued using the following mortality assumptions: 
- Basetable: S3PXA 
- Future mortality improvements:  CMI_2018, 1.25% Long-term rate, smoothing factor of 7 
- Age rating: None 

The following table illustrates members’ life expectancy in years, at the age of 65, based on the mortality assumptions 
above: 

2020 2019

 Retiring Now: 
Males 21.80 22.00

 Females 24.10 23.90
 Retiring in 20 Years:
 Males 23.20 23.40
 Females 25.50 25.50 
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18.2 The movement in the scheme’s deficit over the year to 31 March 2020 is summarised as follows: 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 The Pension Deficit as at 31 March Comprises:  
          Pension Deficit at 1 April (3,700) (3039)
          Gain / (Loss) in the Year - Actuarial 3,278 (1662)
          Gain / (Loss) in the Year – Other (34) -
          Deficit Recovery Plan Payment 693 1,220
          Contribution to Scheme Administration Costs 80 80
 Subtotal 317 (3,401)

 Analysis of Amounts (Charged) to the SoFA for the Year:
          Other Finance Cost (93) (83)
          Current Service Cost (224) (178)
          Past Service Cost - (38)
 Subtotal (317) (299)

 Pension (Deficit) at 31 March - (3,700) 

18.3 Analysis of the amount that has been charged / (credited) to operating profit under FRS 102: 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 Current Service Cost 224 178
 Total 224 178 

18.4 Analysis of the amount that has been debited to net finance charges under FRS 102: 

 
 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 Expected Return on Pension Scheme Assets 513 536
 Interest on Pension Scheme Liabilities (606) (619)
 Total (93) (83) 
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18.5 Analysis of the amount that has been recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities: 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

 Actual Return Less Expected Return on Pension Scheme Assets 990 (405) 409
 Experience Gains / (Losses) Arising on the Scheme Liabilities 1,997 14 (57)
 Changes in the Assumptions Underlying the Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities 291 (1,271) 1,446
 Total 3,278 (1,662) 1,798
 
 Adjustment to Restrict Recognition of Surplus (34) - -

 Revised Recognised Gain / (Loss) for the Year 3,244 (1,662) 1,798 

 
 

  
  
  

  

         
   
 
 

18.6 History of experienced gains and losses: 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

2016 
£’000 

 Difference Between Actual and Expected Return on Assets:
 Amount 990 (405) 409 1,604 (314)
 % of Scheme Assets 4.2% (1.9%) 1.9% 8.2% (1.9%)

 Experience of Gains and (Losses) Arising on Liabilities:
 Amount 1997 (14) (57) 1,893 120
 % of Scheme Assets 8.6% (0.1%) (0.3%) 9.7% 0.7% 
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19. Commitments 

Operating Leases:
 Amounts payable in total under operating leases with expiry dates 

Premises 
2020 
£’000 

Premises 
2019 
£’000 

Other 
2020 
£’000 

Other 
2019 
£’000 

 Within One Year 430 418 18 6 
 Between One and Five Years 1,076 1,441 35 -
 Over Five Years - - - -
 Total 1,506 1,859 53 6 

 Operating Lease Expenditure: 
2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

 Premises 382 399 
 Plant, Machinery and Vehicles 18 19 
 Total 400 418 

 

Capital Commitments 
As at 31 March 2020 Motability has outstanding capital commitments of £0.3 million in respect of its Head Office facilities. 

Future Grant Allocations 
An award of £5.0 million has been allocated to Family Fund to support the mobility of families with children under three 
years old. Should the current pilot be successful, the remainder of this grant will be available to be drawn down against 
spend in 2021. 

An award of £5.4 million, of which £0.3 million was paid in 2019/20, has been made to Designability for the Wizzybugs 
initiative. The remainder of the award is payable over the five years to 2024/25 subject to satisfactory performance review. 

20. Taxation 
As a registered charity, Motability is potentially exempt from taxation of income and gains falling within Part 11 Income 
and Corporation Taxes Act 2010 and s256 Taxation Chargeable Gains Act 1992. No tax charge has arisen in the year. �  

No tax charge has arisen in the subsidiary due to the policy of gifting profits to Motability each year. FI
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‘ With my Motability car I don’t have to worry, 
I can drive where I want, when I want. I now 
have my independence and the peace of mind 
from knowing that if something does go wrong 
with the vehicle, I can get rapid assistance 
and won’t face heavy bills and that is wonderful.’

 Ailsa 
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‘Since my Wheelchair Accessible 
Vehicle I feel like I have complete freedom 

to do what I like, when I like.’ 
Joanne 

Motability, the Charity, Warwick House, Harlow, Essex, CM19 5PX 

Motability is a Registered Charity in England and Wales number 299745 and is authorised  
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, reference number 736309. 

motability.org.uk 

https://www.motability.co.uk
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